
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD
30 October 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the CLIMATE CHANGE ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION GROUP will be held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on THURSDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2019 at 
2:00 PM, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director 

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 3 - 8)
Report by Head of Legal and Regulatory Services  

4. PLAN AND FOCUS OF ACTIVITY (Pages 9 - 64)
Report by Head of Commercial Services 

5. CONSULTATION ON THE ROLE OF PUBLIC SECTOR BODIES IN TACKLING 
CLIMATE CHANGE (Pages 65 - 70)
Report by Head of Commercial Services 

Climate Change Environmental Action Group

Councillor Rory Colville (Vice-Chair) Councillor Jim Findlay
Councillor Bobby Good Councillor Kieron Green
Councillor Jim Lynch Councillor Aileen Morton (Chair)

Shona Barton, Committee Manager

Contact: Lynsey Innis, Senior Committee Assistant; Tel:  01546 604338 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL    CLIMATE CHANGE ENVIRONMENTAL       

ACTION GROUP

LEGAL AND REGULATORY SUPPORT THURSDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2019 

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Argyll and Bute Council, at its meeting on 26 September 2019, having 
recognised the growing concerns about the climate change emergency, and the 
part that Argyll and Bute Council, community planning partners and the 
residents they represent can contribute to the ongoing national and international 
response to climate changes, established the Climate Change Environmental 
Action Group.

1.2 The purpose of this group is to consider and advise on policy options and 
opportunities for strategic projects and activities that will form part of the ongoing 
commitment to deliver the Climate Change (Scotland) Act and efforts to 
enhance Argyll and Bute’s contribution to addressing this global issue.  

1.3 The group will operate under the terms of a Short Life Working Group, 
comprising of 6 members, to include 4 from the council’s Administration and 2 
from the Opposition group/s.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that the Climate Change Environmental Action Group:

1.   Consider and note the contents of this report; and 

2.   Agree the future meeting dates as outlined at paragraph 3.3 of this report.   

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



3.0 DETAIL

3.1 At the Council meeting on 26 September 2019, Councillors Aileen Morton, Rory 
Colville, Kieron Green and Bobby Good were appointed from the Council’s 
Administration and Councillors Jim Findlay and Jim Lynch were appointed from 
the Opposition groups as Members of the Climate Change Environmental Action 
Group.  Councillor Aileen Morton will assume the role of chair with Councillor Rory 
Colville as vice-chair.  

3.2 The group will operate under the terms of a Short Life Working Group and can 
work with partners outwith the council, for example from relevant industry sectors, 
to explore ways of tackling climate matters that affect everyone.  Details of the 
Terms of Reference and Delegation for Short Life Working Groups are attached 
as Appendix 1.

3.3 The group is required to develop and determine at its first meeting, a plan which 
identifies the focus for its activity, and the council services from which it will draw 
support with an initial update report to the Policy and Resources Committee, at its 
meeting in December 2019.  Recommended actions from the group are to be 
reported by August 2020 or earlier.  In order to comply with this timetable, 
Members are asked to agree that the meeting dates for the Climate Change 
Environmental Action Group will be:

 Thursday, 16 January 2020 at 10.00am within Committee Room 1, 
KIlmory, Lochgilphead;

 Tuesday, 10 March 2020 at 10.00am within Committee Room 1, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead;

 Tuesday 12 May 2020 at 2.00pm within the Council Chambers, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead; 

 Friday, 19 June 2020 at 10.00am within Committee Room 1, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead; and 

 Tuesday, 4 August 2020 at 2.00pm within the Council Chambers, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead.  

3.4 Meetings of the group will be open to the public and will be conducted in 
accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders for meetings.  It should be noted, 
however, that the public may be excluded from a meeting of the group when an 
item of business is being considered, if it is likely, because of the business itself 
or what might be said, that confidential information as meant by the relevant law 
would be given to members of the public.  (The relevant law in this case is Section 
50A (2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973).  

3.5 While the minimum quorum for an effective meeting of the group to take place will 
be three members, the nature of the report/s for consideration at the meeting will 
determine the minimum number of members of the group required to be present 
at the meeting.  Members may also be permitted to participate by remote link, by 
giving at least 48 hours’ notice to the relevant Clerk (copied to the Executive 
Director of Customer Services or his nominee) who will then notify the Chair.  The 

Page 4



protocol for the use of video-conferencing facilities is detailed in the Council 
Constitution.    

3.6 The group will report and provide advice to the Council.  The Council may direct 
the group’s reports, instead or in addition, to another constituent part of the 
Council.  

3.7 At the end of the period, the group will cease to exist unless, before the end of 
that period the Council has substituted a revised period.  

4.0 CONCLUSION

4.1 The purpose of the Climate Change Environmental Action Group is to consider 
and advise on policy options and opportunities for strategic projects and activities 
that will form part of the ongoing commitment to deliver the Climate Change 
(Scotland) Act and efforts to enhance Argyll and Bute’s contributions to 
addressing the global issue.  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Policy: The Council will need to develop policy to meet the provisions or 
duties associated with the Climate Change (Scotland) Act

5.2 Financial: None at this stage

5.3 Legal: The Climate Change (Scotland) Act includes emission targets 
which could see new statutory duties or requirements for public 
sector organisations including local authorities.  

5.4 HR: None at this stage

5.5 Equalities/Fairer Scotland Duty/Islands:  None at this stage

5.6. Risk: None at this stage

5.7 Customer Service:   None at this stage

Executive Director – Douglas Hendry

Councillor Aileen Morton, Policy Lead for Commercial Services and Strategic 
Priorities

25 October 2019                                                 

For further information contact: Shona Barton, Committee Manager; Telephone:  
01436 657605

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference and Delegation for Short Life Working Groups

Page 5



2.6

Appendix 1

Short Life Working Groups

SLWGs will be appointed in terms of the Scheme of Administration and 

Delegations which is referred to in Standing Order 26.

Standing Orders 2.1, 2.3, 2.4, 3.1 – 3.5, 7.1 – 7.4 and 17.1 will apply to

meetings of any Short Life Working Group.

2.6.1 Meetings of SLWGs

Without prejudice to the general right of the Council, to appoint a 
SLWG at any time, a minimum of any six Members may propose that 
a SLWG should be established; the following procedure will apply to 
the establishment of a Group on its proposal by Members.

2.6.1.1 The Members concerned will set out in a notice to be given to the 
Executive Director of Customer Services the matters on which it is 
proposed the Group should be asked to provide advice, together with 
such other relevant material as the members concerned consider the 
Council might usefully require in order to reach a decision whether or 
not to establish such a Group.

2.6.1.2 The Executive Director of Customer Services will include the 
proposal, together with the written material provided by the Members, 
on the agenda for the next following ordinary meeting of the Council.

2.6.1.3 In considering a proposal (whether or not submitted in terms of sub-
paragraph (1) above) to establish a SLWG, the Council may (a) 
determine that, instead of appointing a Group, the matter contained in 
the proposal may be added to the Terms of Reference of an existing 
Group or (b) in the circumstances where (a) does not apply the 
Council shall resolve either to require a report from the appropriate 
officer on the implications of establishing such a group in respect of 
the resources required to take forward the work of the group, the 
current status (if any) of Council policy on the matter and any other 
matters relevant to their deliberations to a future meeting of the 
Council or (c) decline to establish such a group without further 
deliberation.

2.6.1.4 When a SLWG is established, the Council will appoint the Members 
of the Group, appoint two of those Members who are Councillors to 
be the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Group respectively, specify the 
matters on which the Group is to provide advice, specify the 
timescale within which the Group is to submit its report or 
recommendations and any other ancillary matters regarding the 
operation of the Group as may be desirable.

Page 6



2.6.1.5 Whilst normally a SLWG will report and provide advice to the Council, 
the Council when establishing a Group may direct that the SLWG 
reports, instead or in addition, to another constituent part of the 
Council.

2.6.1.6 At the end of the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (4) of this 
Standing Order the Group will cease to exist unless before the end of 
that period the appointing body has substituted a revised period.

2.6.1.7 It will be open to the Council at any time in the event that it considers 
the resources available to support the work of SLWGs are insufficient, 
to agree that no further Groups should be established or that the 
number in total should be limited. If such a decision is made no 
proposal to establish a SLWG Group which would be contrary to the 
Council resolution shall be considered unless and until the Council 
has altered or rescinded that resolution.

2.6.2 The arrangements for meetings of a SLWGs will be a matter for the 
Group concerned, but the chair of a Group may for good cause 
cancel or alter the place, date or time for a meeting of a Group and 
may call a meeting of a Group on dates in addition to those already 
decided by the Group, but not after the summons for the meeting has 
been issued.

2.6.3 In addition to any report or paper submitted by an Officer of the 
Council, any Member of a SLWG may, in relation to any research 
which she/he may have undertaken, submit a report or paper for 
consideration by the Group, provided that report or paper is made 
available in time for inclusion with the agenda of business for the 
meeting, and any other Member of the Council may similarly submit 
such report or paper and may speak to the SLWG in relation to that 
report or paper.

2.6.4 In addition to the consideration of any report or paper submitted by a 
Member or Officer, a SLWG may seek and/or consider a report, 
paper or presentation from other persons, whether inside or outside 
the Council, but such persons shall not participate as Members of the 
Group.

2.6.5 While the minimum quorum for an effective meeting of a SLWG to 
take place will be three Members of the Group, the report or reports 
of the Group which contain the advice and recommendations of the 
Group will require to be considered at a meeting of the Group at 
which at least half of the Members of the Group are present.

Page 7



2.6.6 The content of the advice or recommendations which any Group 
provides will be reached if possible by consensus amongst the 
Members of the Group, and in the event of any difference of view 
which will be determined in accordance with these Standing Orders 
as they would apply to a meeting of a Committee of the Council, the 
report or reports of the Group will in addition to the advice and 
recommendations of the Group include a note setting out the views of 
those Members who may not concur with that advice or those 
recommendations. Other decisions by the Group relating to their 
procedure and operation will be reached in accordance with these 
Standing Orders as they would apply to a meeting of a Committee of 
the Council.

Page 8



1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Purpose 

1.1      As outlined in the previous agenda item titled ‘Governance Arrangements’ 
the Climate Change and Environmental Action Group (thereafter referred 
to SLWG) is required to ‘develop and determine at its first meeting, a plan 
which identifies the focus for its activity, and the council services from 
which it will draw support with an initial update report to the Policy and 
Resources Committee, at its meeting in December 2019.’  

1.2      Climate change and environmental topics can be wide ranging and varied.  
It is therefore important to harness resource of the SLWG and supporting 
Officers in an efficient and directed manner by focusing activity towards 
issues that are deemed to be most pertinent or relevant to our Council 
area.  It is also necessary to consider what and in what ways the SLWG 
can best influence and what engagement is required with our communities 
and other stakeholders relating to Climate Change.   

1.3      This report aims to stimulate discussion and suggests a plan of activity for 
the SLWG from November 2019 to August 2020.  It is a requirement from 
the Council to submit a plan of activity to the December 2019 Policy & 
Resources Committee.   

Recommendation 

That the SLWG:- 

1. Note and consider this paper;

2. Discuss climate change and environmental matters; and

3. Agree a plan of activity for the SLWG;

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENTAL 
ACTION GROUP      

COMMERCIAL SERVICES  7th NOVEMBER 2019 

PLAN AND FOCUS OF ACTIVITY 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



 

 
2.0  INTRODUCTION 
 
 2.1 This report aims to stimulate discussion and suggests a plan of activity for 

the SLWG from November 2019 to August 2020.  It is a requirement from 
the Council to submit a plan of activity to the December 2019 Policy & 
Resources Committee.  

  
 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the SLWG:- 
 

1. Note and consider this paper; 
 

2. Discuss climate change and environmental matters; and 
 

3. Agree a plan of activity for the SLWG.   
 

    
4.0 DETAIL 
 
 Global / EU Context 
 
 4.1 Across the globe there is an increasing focus on the urgent need to 

address the social, economic and environmental impacts of climate 
change. A new wave of awareness raising – particularly from youth and 
high impact protest groups - is notable across many countries.  The 
physical effects of climate change are also apparent with more extreme 
weather events, flooding and rises in the sea level.   At a European level 
the new EU Commission will legislate for carbon neutrality by 2050 and 
will present a new cross-cutting European Green Deal to guide 
implementation.   Scotland’s 2020, 2030 and 2050 emission targets are 
in line with the EU.   The recent Programme for Government announced 
a Continuity Bill to keep Scottish legislation in line with evolving EU law 
including on climate targets even post EU Exit. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENTAL 
ACTION GROUP                                                     
                                                                                                                                                         

COMMERCIAL SERVICES                               7th NOVEMBER 2019 
 
PLAN AND FOCUS OF ACTIVITY 

 

Page 10



 

 National Context 
 
 4.2 The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 is the primary legislative 

document in Scotland and has been subject to several updates and 
amendments in the past decade.  It created the statutory framework for 
greenhouse gas emissions reductions in Scotland by setting an interim 
42 per cent reduction target for 2020.  

 
 4.3 The recently published Scottish Government’s Programme1 for 

Government has a substantial focus on climate change.  It proposes a 
range of interventions across policy areas. 

 
 4.4 The Climate Change (Emissions Reductions Target) (Scotland) Bill2 

passed Stage 3 in the Scottish Parliament on Wednesday 25 September. 
It focusses predominantly on the numerical greenhouse gas reduction 
target.  A number of amendments were made to the bill, most importantly 
an amendment to ensure early action, by increasing the interim target of 
70% reduction in greenhouse gases to 75% by 2030 (compared to 1990 
levels) and net-zero emissions by 2045.   

 
 4.5 The Climate Change Bill also puts into law the requirements for the 

transition to a net-zero economy to be “just”.  Last year the Scottish 
Government established a Just Transition Commission to advise on how 
to achieve a net-zero economy in a way that is fair for all by following the 
internationally recognised principles that requires all stakeholders to: 

 
• Plan, invest and implement a transition to environmentally and 

socially sustainable jobs, sectors and economies, building on 
Scotland’s economic and workforce strengths and potential; 
 

• Create opportunities to develop resource efficient and sustainable 
economic approaches, which help address inequality and poverty; 

 
• Design and deliver low carbon investment and infrastructure, and 

make all possible efforts to create decent, fair and high value 
work, in a way which does not negatively affect the current 
workforce and overall economy. 

 
 4.6 Scotland’s Climate Change Plan3 sets out a comprehensive view of how 

all aspects of society across industry, transport, energy, buildings, 
heating and land use will need to change if we are to reach our vision for 
growing the economy, improving the wellbeing of the people of Scotland 
and protecting and enhancing our natural environment. The Scottish 
Government has committed to updating the Plan in light of the new 

                                                           
1 https://www.gov.scot/publications/protecting-scotlands-future-governments-programme-scotland-2019-20/ 
2www.parliament.scot/S5_Bills/Climate%20Change%20(Emissions%20Reduction%20Targets)%20(Scotland)%2
0Bill/SPBill30BS052019.pdf  
3 www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-governments-climate-change-plan-third-report-proposals-policies-2018-
9781788516488  

Page 11

https://www.gov.scot/publications/protecting-scotlands-future-governments-programme-scotland-2019-20/
http://www.parliament.scot/S5_Bills/Climate%20Change%20(Emissions%20Reduction%20Targets)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/SPBill30BS052019.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/S5_Bills/Climate%20Change%20(Emissions%20Reduction%20Targets)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/SPBill30BS052019.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-governments-climate-change-plan-third-report-proposals-policies-2018-9781788516488
http://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-governments-climate-change-plan-third-report-proposals-policies-2018-9781788516488


 

targets within six months of the Climate Change Bill receiving Royal 
Assent. 

 
 4.7 COSLA are also supportive of the ambitious approach to tackling climate 

change in Scotland and the Scottish Government’s ‘net zero’ emissions 
target for 2045. COSLA via their Environment and Economy Board have 
been working in partnership with the Sustainable Scotland Network 
(SSN) and recently published a report and suggested ‘next steps’ 
towards delivering the targets within the context of local government.   

 
 4.8 They are proposing a dialogue with Councils’ and Government around 

scoping of potential action relating to the following headings:- 
 

• Leadership – in all spheres and at all levels; 
• Education – within organisations and the wider public; 
• A ‘concrete’ local delivery plan – linked to the national Climate 

Change Plan; 
• Clear duties and responsibilities; 
• A uniform methodological approach (consistent data and 

performance measures, to facilitate action that is more accurately 
measurable and deliverable); and 

• Capacity and resources 
 

 The full COSLA paper is contained at Appendix A.   
 

 4.9 Another key principle of addressing climate change in Scotland is the 
concept of ‘adaptation’.  Adaptation is ‘the adjustment in economic, social 
or natural systems in response to actual or expected climate change, to 
limit harmful consequences and exploit beneficial opportunities’ (Scottish 
Climate Change Adaptation Programme, The Scottish Government, 
2014). 

 
 4.10  Adaptation Scotland was set up by the Scottish Government and 

provides a range of material and guidance to support local authorities 
and organisations at different stages of developing climate change 
adaptation strategies and action plans.  Their most recent publication 
‘Scotland Adapts: A capability framework for a climate ready public 
sector’4 is contained at Appendix B.  The document is relatively easy to 
read and provides a practical toolkit and case study which may aid 
discussions of the SLWG.   

   
 Argyll and Bute Context 
 
 4.11 Officers of Argyll and Bute Council have been considering and 

addressing aspects of Climate Change on a number of fronts for well 
over a decade.  Differing teams address different aspects and can 
include planning policy, energy efficiency, property design, economic 

                                                           
4www.adaptationscotland.org/application/files/5515/5808/7098/Adaptation_Scotland_PSG_Handbook_FINAL
.pdf  

Page 12

http://www.adaptationscotland.org/application/files/5515/5808/7098/Adaptation_Scotland_PSG_Handbook_FINAL.pdf
http://www.adaptationscotland.org/application/files/5515/5808/7098/Adaptation_Scotland_PSG_Handbook_FINAL.pdf


 

policy, fleet, waste, education, roads, marine, marine design, 
procurement and corporate policy to name a few.   There is no argument 
that addressing climate change is a corporate and cross cutting vocation 
that requires universal buy-in.  This is in addition to the partnership 
working that is also required with our businesses and communities.   

 
 4.12 The Council was one of a few public sector organisations to pilot Carbon 

Management Plans in 2008 in partnership with the Carbon Trust (ie 
before the Climate Change (Scotland) Act).  At that time it was identified 
that the main sources of Council CO2 production were from:- 

 
  (1) Handling & collection of household & business waste – 42%  
  (2) Buildings Electricity – 23 %  
  (3) Buildings Oil – 11%  
  (4) Fleet / Business Travel – 11%  
  (5) Other sources – 13%.   
 
 4.13 This process also put in place a variety of onsite renewable energy 

schemes, installing energy efficient technologies and controls to minimize 
wasted energy. 

 
 4.14 The Council has also operated a Climate Change Board since April 2017 

to oversee Climate Change activities and this reports to the Strategic 
Management Team. The Board has been chaired since July 2019 by the 
Head of Commercial Services and is made up of representatives drawn 
from all Council services and the Health and Social Care Partnership who 
have an interest in climate change.  The Council also reports annually on 
climate change to the Sustainable Scotland Network (SSN) and 
publishes performance, statistics and information on both the Network’s 
and Council websites.  Links can be found here:-   

 
  https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/sustainable-development-and-climate-

change 
   
 https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports/argyll-and-bute-council 

 
 4.15 The Climate Change Board broadly works to an action plan and main 

duties include the preparation and submission of information to SSN.  
The Board has also heard from component departments who have 
delivered on significant climate change projects like:- 

 
• Solar panels which generate up to 1MW of energy on Council 

owned buildings; 
• Installation of 12 biomass boilers and schools & offices; 
• Operation of a 50 kilowatt wind turbine which helps to power our 

Glengorm Waste Disposal Site on Mull; 
• The change to LED lightbulbs in our street lighting is expected to 

save more than 1,100 tonnes of carbon dioxide every year; 

Page 13

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/sustainable-development-and-climate-change
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/sustainable-development-and-climate-change
https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports/argyll-and-bute-council


 

• 99 schools and nurseries across Argyll and Bute (both Council 
and other providers) are registered with eco-schools and 47 have 
green flag status; 

• Our Sustainable Procurement Policy ensures that our 
procurement minimises its contribution to climate change. 

 
 4.16 Our Council region (not just activities of the Council) has also been 

recognised recently as having the lowest net carbon footprint of any local 
authority area in the UK5.  This is largely due to our low population, de-
carbonised electricity sources (windfarms / hydro), low numbers of heavy 
industry and large areas of forest and peat bogs which acts as an offset 
via carbon capture. 

 
 4.17 Our region, including all of the Highlands and Islands, have some distinct 

and existing challenges and opportunities for our Climate Change 
journey.  On the one hand decarbonising transport between islands and 
in remote areas, decarbonising off-grid heating systems without 
exacerbating fuel poverty, decarbonising activity in the industrial 
installations across the Highlands and Islands without negatively 
impacting on employment and productivity, and restoring peatlands to the 
point where they stop being a major source of emissions are all major 
challenges not to be underestimated.  

 
 4.18 On the other hand, we are ideally placed to capitalise on the country’s 

requirement for bio-energy and carbon sequestration with nature-based 
solutions such as peatland restoration and woodland creation alongside 
carbon capture and storage all acting as negative emissions solutions. 
Challenges and opportunities for our region are helpfully mapped by 
Scottish Natural Heritage as part of their paper for Convention of the 
Highlands and Island (28th October 2019).  The main table is replicated at 
Appendix C.  

 
 4.19 The Council already have a suite of policies that relate to Climate Change 

for example:- 
 

  CLIMATE 
CHANGE OBJECTIVES 

SOURCE 

Argyll and Bute Local 
Development Plan Key Objective 
1 "To address the impacts of 
climate change on everything we 
do and reduce our carbon 
footprint" 

The Argyll and Bute Local 
Development Plan 

"Ensuring a sustainable future by 
protecting the natural environment 
and mitigating climate change" 

The Argyll and Bute Outcome 
Improvement Plan 2013 - 2023 

                                                           
5 https://www.heraldscotland.com/news/17888516.green-council-area-reveal-reality-scotland-39-s-carbon-
footprint-results-might-surprise/  

Page 14

https://www.heraldscotland.com/news/17888516.green-council-area-reveal-reality-scotland-39-s-carbon-footprint-results-might-surprise/
https://www.heraldscotland.com/news/17888516.green-council-area-reveal-reality-scotland-39-s-carbon-footprint-results-might-surprise/


 

"The infrastructure that supports 
sustainable growth" 

The Argyll and Bute  Outcome 
Improvement Plan2013 - 2023 

 
 4.20 The Council is also supportive and indeed champions the development of 

renewable energy, reducing carbon and environmental innovation in our 
region through the Renewable Energy Action Plan, our Economic 
Strategy, Rural Growth Deal and other action plans.   

 
 Short Life Working Group Plan 
 
 4.21 Literature, commentary and intervention for addressing Climate Change 

is extensive. Education, awareness raising and leadership are key 
aspects of addressing Climate Change and the very setting up of the 
SLWG is already seen as a positive aspect of that as it has been 
reported widely in media.  The topic is wide ranging and other Councils 
have specific and dedicated Officer’s / Teams delivering on Climate 
Change matters.  Officers that contribute to our Climate Change Board 
do so as part of their own operational portfolio.   

 
 4.22 Over the course of the next 5 meetings of the SLWG (until August 2020) 

it is essential to focus resource and set ambitious yet achievable goals or 
targets to deliver maximum impact.   For the purposes of the SLWG, it is 
proposed to exclude waste disposal from the scope of the group – even 
though it produces the largest carbon output of all Council activity - as 
there is separate extensive transformation underway via the 
Biodegradable Municipal Waste (BMW) projects.  It is also proposed that 
we streamline matters and it is suggested that activities are split into 3 
broad categories:- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 4.23 In this context we are suggesting the following Activity Plan is discussed     

and version agreed:- 

Council Policy 
• Council have direct 

influence; 
• Can be internal policy 

(like procurement) or 
external policy (like 
land use planning); 

• Keep abreast of 
changing national and 
international policy; 

• Can affect how 
community acts; 

• Awareness and 
leadership essential; 

• Transport policy; 
• Economic / Business 

Strategies; 
• Education; 

 
  

Council Business 
• Council have direct 

influence; 
• Mainly our 

operational Activities; 
• Adaptation – eg flood 

defenses, resilience;  
• Reduction of energy; 
• Energy efficiency; 
• Generating energy; 
• Offsetting carbon; 
• Travel; 
• Education of staff/ 

Councillors; 
• Projects / investment. 

 

Council as Climate 
Change Champion 
• Raising awareness; 
• Education; 
• Promotion and 

reward; 
• Collaboration; 
• Partnership with 

Community 
Planning Partners; 

• Engagement – 
communities, 
business & youth 
importantly; 

• Take the lead. 
 

Page 15



 

PROPOSED SLWG ACTIVITY PLAN 
 
ACTION RESOURCE TIMEFRAME 
Council Policy 
1. Review existing Council policy and corporate policy 

approach to address climate change matters; 
Economic Development, Procurement, 
Roads & Infrastructure, Property Services 

January 2020 

2. Consider the implications/opportunities of Government 
policy and legislation in relation to addressing Climate 
Change; 

a.   Respond to SG Consultation 

Climate Change Board Ongoing Feedback 
from SG Consultation 
= January 2020 

3. Review the Council’s annual climate change submission 
to Scottish Government and other performance indicators 
in compliance with the Climate Change Act; 

Climate Change Board January 
2020 

Council Business 
4. Review the Action Plan and activities of the Climate 

Change Board; 
Climate Change Board March 2020 

5. Consider the establishment of a climate change fund for 
innovation or development. 

Climate Change Board June 2020 

6. Endorse a new renewable energy sourcing strategy for 
Council assets (RSS2). 

Property Services August 2020 

Climate Change Champion 
7. Promote and champion the mitigation and adaption to the 

negative impacts of climate change, green investment in 
our region, sustainable development and resource 
efficiency for the Council & the communities we serve. 

SLWG Ongoing 

8. Encourage effective partnership working across all 
community planning partners in relation to the impacts of 
climate change; 
 

SLWG and Community Planning  Item on agenda for 
discussion at December 
2020  CPP 
management committee 
meeting then ongoing  

P
age 16



 

ACTION RESOURCE TIMEFRAME 
9. Promote Argyll and Bute as a low carbon area and to 

develop and seek additional investment for green 
infrastructure including renewables, environmental and 
biodiversity business to develop; 

Climate Change Board / Economic 
Development 

May 2020 

10. Identify, acknowledge and champion positive climate 
change projects carried out by (A) the Council (B) our 
CPP partners, (C) our communities (D) our businesses 
and others 

Climate Change Board June 2020 

11. Development of a communications and engagement 
strategy around the impacts of climate change and how 
we intend to mitigate and adapt 

Communications Team March - 
August 2020 

12. Recommended actions from the group are to be reported 
back to Full Council by August 2020 

SLWG August 2020 

 
 
 4.24 Members are asked to discuss and consider this draft plan in order to finalise an activity plan to consider at Policy & 

Resources Committee in December 2019.   
 

P
age 17



 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 5.1 Policy:  Consideration given to how the  

SLWG wish to review and 
shape Climate Change Policy 

  
          5.2 Financial: Consideration given to how 

SLWG wish to resource climate 
change adaptation, policy and 
efficiencies 

 
 5.3 Legal:   None at present 
 
 

 5.4 HR:  None at present  
 

 5.5 Fairer Scotland Duty: None at present  
 
 
 5.6 Equalities – protected Characteristics:  None at present  
 
 5.7 Socio-economic Duty: None at present as 

consultation 
 
 5.8 Islands   Certain climate change 

activities identified specifically 
for Island context  

 
 
 5.6 Risk:    Requirement to consider 

impacts of climate change and 
adaptation 

 
 
 5.7 Customer Service:   Engagement to be considered 

as part of work of SLWG  
  
For further information contact:  
 
Cllr Aileen Morton, Strategic Lead for Commercial Services & Priority Projects 
Douglas Hendry, Executive Director with responsibility for Commercial Services 
Ross McLaughlin, Head of Commercial Services 
 
29th October 2019 
 
 
 
APPENDIX A -    COSLA REPORT ON CLIMATE CHANGE (October 2019) 
APPENDIX B -  ADAPTATION SCOTLAND FRAMEWORK 
APPENDIX C -  SNH LIST OF CLIMATE CHANGE OPPORTUNITIES & 

CHALLANGED FOR HIGHLANDS & ISLANDS (28th October 
2019)

Page 18



 
Page 1 of 5 

APPENDIX A – COSLA REPORT 
 

 
 

Environment and Economy Board Item 07 
 

Climate Change  
 

Summary and Recommendations 

This report updates the Board on recent developments in climate change, seeks initial 
feedback on the Scottish Government’s consultation on climate change and further 
develops our position based on a recent climate change event which brought together 
our member Councils.  
 
The Board is invited to: 
 

i. Welcome the Climate Change (Emissions Reductions Target) (Scotland) Bill and it’s improved 
interim targets 

ii. Agree that  we must also consider the loss of biodiversity and an increased focus 
on adaptation within our policy response to climate change, and 

iii. Provide initial views on the Scottish Government proposals for a change to public sector 
reporting duty and the establishment of a ‘National Forum on Climate Change’ and a ‘High 
Ambition Climate Network’ for the public sector. 

 
 
 

 
Silke Isbrand 
Policy Manager - Environment and Economy  
silke@cosla.gov.uk 
0131 474 9266 
 
 
 

October 2019 
 

References 
Previous relevant reports: 

• COSLA Leaders February 2017 - Draft Scottish Climate Change Plan 
• Environment and Economy Board September 2017 – Climate Change 
• Environment and Economy Board April 2018 – Climate Change 
• Economy and Environment Board December 2018 - Climate Change Bill 
• Environment and Economy Board June 2019 – Climate Change 
• Environment and Economy Board September 2019 – Climate Change and Future 

Economic Policy 
 

Page 19

mailto:silke@cosla.gov.uk
http://www.cosla.gov.uk/climate-change-0
http://www.cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/18-04-20_item_07_climate_change_plan_and_bill.pdf
http://www.cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/18-12-07_item_08_climate_change_bill.pdf
https://www.cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/19-06-07_item_05_-_climate_change.pdf
https://www.cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/19-09-06_item_05ii_-_climate_change_and_future_economic_policy_-_discussion_paper.pdf
https://www.cosla.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/19-09-06_item_05ii_-_climate_change_and_future_economic_policy_-_discussion_paper.pdf


 
Page 2 of 5 

 

 
Climate Change  

 
Purpose 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Board on the Climate Change Bill, the 

Scottish Government’s consultation on climate change, and a recent event in which 
SSN (Sustainable Scotland Network) and COSLA organised for member Councils on 
climate change.   

Current Position 
2. COSLA supports an ambitious approach to tackling climate change in Scotland and 

the Scottish Government’s ‘net zero’ emissions target for 2045, which was based on 
the recommendations of the Climate Change Committee.  This Board has also 
previously raised the need for interim targets and made a strong call for early action 
on climate change mitigation. 
 

3. In assessing the previous climate change plan and wider policy, the Board has 
consistently stressed the need for local action, and for Local Authorities to be 
empowered, equipped and resourced to effectively tackle climate change, in line with 
the Paris agreement. 
 

4. The recent report on climate change and economic development considered at the 
last meeting of this Board put a strong argument forward that a major refocussing of 
economic development aims, policies and measurements of success on genuine 
sustainability is needed, if we are to meet the climate change targets. 

 
5. Climate Change is also one of four key priorities for the spending review alongside 

inclusive growth, wellbeing and child poverty.  
 
What is Changing? 
Programme for Government 
6. The Scottish Government’s Programme for Government has a substantial focus on 

climate change.  It proposes a range of interventions across policy areas, and we will 
return to this Board with more specific reports where they affect Council services at 
future meetings. 
 

Climate Change Bill 
7. The Climate Change (Emissions Reductions Target) (Scotland) Bill passed Stage 3 

in the Scottish Parliament on Wednesday 25 September. It focusses predominantly 
on the numerical greenhouse gas reduction target.  A number of amendments were 
made to the bill, most importantly an amendment to ensure early action, by 
increasing the interim target of 70% reduction in greenhouse gases to 75% by 2030 
(compared to 1990 levels).  An amendment to give the Just Transition Commission a 
firmer legal basis did not receive a majority. 

 
8. Within six month of Royal Assent, the Scottish Government is required to publish a 

Climate Change Plan, with firm proposals of how these targets will be reached.  We 

Page 20

https://www.gov.scot/publications/protecting-scotlands-future-governments-programme-scotland-2019-20/
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Bills/Climate%20Change%20(Emissions%20Reduction%20Targets)%20(Scotland)%20Bill/SPBill30BS052019.pdf


 
Page 3 of 5 

anticipate that this Board will want to have a detailed consideration of this plan, as 
was done with the previous plan. 

 
 

 
An overview of the principal messages from these meetings is attached as Appendix 
A.  

 
9. When responding to the Climate Change consultation, we are proposing to stress the 

vital role of Local Government, both as a sphere of government and a key delivery 
body, and that this needs to be reflected in any governance arrangements. 

 
Next Steps 
10. Political ambitions and attitudes have shifted significantly in the past few months and 

there is a clear challenge of how to translate these into a practical way forward.  We 
are proposing to develop a dialogue and scope out potential action around the 
following headings from our recent meeting with Councils: 
 
• Leadership – in all spheres and at all levels 
• Education – within organisations and the wider public 
• A ‘concrete’ local delivery plan – linked to the national Climate Change Plan  
• Clear duties and responsibilities 
• A uniform methodological approach (consistent data and performance measures, 

to facilitate action that is more accurately measurable and deliverable) 
• Capacity and resources 

 
11. Any dialogue with the Scottish Government on capacity and resources will be linked 

to the spending review.  Clearly, for Councils to focus on removing emissions from 
their own estate is vital. However, the net zero target will require more fundamental 
change in local areas and society more broadly.   
 

12. Perhaps more importantly therefore are Councils’ much wider regional and civic 
leadership role, which can allow Councils to drive and facilitate climate action in their 
local areas.  This can include supporting or developing local partnerships and 
initiatives.  It could however also extend to addressing how Local Government with 
investment policies and pension funds can influence the behaviour of larger 
corporations, and their ‘polluter-pays’ obligations. 

 
13. Going forward, Members may wish to have an open discussion about whether there 

is appetite for Councils’ regional and civic leadership role to be further enhanced, 
and what the implications and opportunities would be. 

 
14. Drawing these themes together, we are still pursuing a meeting of the spokesperson 

with the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform, to 
start the process of agreeing a joint response to the climate emergency.  Work with 
Councils and Scottish Government officials is ongoing and a report to Leaders still 
planned before the end of the year.  

 
 

  

Page 21



 
Page 4 of 5 

Appendix A 
 
Key messages from COSLA/SSN meeting with Member Councils on  Climate 
Change, September 2019 
 
• Local Government recognises that climate change is a global emergency and the 

obligation this puts on both Scottish and Local Government; 
 
• Local government is collectively keen to make a significant contribution to climate 

action and needs to be empowered to do so; 
 
• The loss of biodiversity and adaptation need to gain greater attention in the 

climate change agenda; 
 

• Behaviour change remains a crucial component of sustainable climate action; 
 
• Local Government has a critical role to input local, regionally and nationally into 

how we meet the climate change ambitions, and will reach across the entirety of 
Local government in Scotland to establish how best to approach this; 

 
• This needs to be reflected in the governance arrangements at the national level, 

as well as in the development of policy and practice; 
 
• To make the most effective contribution to climate action, Local Authorities need 

a stronger set of tools and powers to develop effective local action; 
 

• Strong corporate support within Councils is essential for effective progress. 
 

Page 22



SCOTLAND 
ADAPTS: 
A CAPABILITY FRAMEWORK 
FOR A CLIMATE READY  
PUBLIC SECTOR

P
age 23



b

Acknowledgements

Adaptation Scotland has benefitted greatly from the time, skills and experience that many individuals and organisations have given to help develop 
Scotland Adapts: A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector. Particular thanks must go to our Expert Working Group for their help in 
developing the capabilities, tasks, case studies and graphics and to colleagues who have helped us to test the Adaptation Capability Framework. Thank 
you John Binning, David Bright, Kathryn Dapre, Mairi Davies, Graham Edmond, Kit England, Jane Findlay, Caitlin Hamlett, David Harkin, Angela Heaney, 
Miranda Jacques Turner, Ann Johnston, Alison Leslie, Jennifer Lothian, Craig Love, Fiona MacLeod, Stewart Miller, Larissa Naylor and Nicola Sandford. 

The concept and content for the Adaptation Capability Framework draws on inspiration from Adaptation Scotland’s work with many organisations  
and was also informed by an extensive review of research and tools. A reference list is provided on the Adaptation Scotland website:  
www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector

Version 1.0

Published May, 2019

Lead Authors: Joseph Hagg, Ellie Murtagh, Melinda Morris and Anna Beswick 

© 2019. Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government License v3.0 http://www.gov.scot/CrownCopyright 

Adaptation Scotland is a programme funded by the Scottish Government and delivered by Sniffer Scottish Charity No SC022375, Company No SC149513.  
Registered in Edinburgh. Registered Office: Caledonian Exchange, 19a Canning Street, Edinburgh,  EH3 8HE 

Design by LBD Creative Ltd
Illustrations by Scriberia

P
age 24

http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector
https://adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector
http://www.gov.scot/CrownCopyright


A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 1

Contents

Ministerial foreword  2

Adaptation Scotland foreword 3

Purpose  4

Introduction 5

Climate Change in Scotland 6

What does climate change mean for Scotland? 8

Adaptation: our response to climate change  11

The role of the public sector 12

Adaptation Capability Framework 14

Capability: Organisational culture & resources 16

Capability: Understanding the challenge 20

Capability: Planning & implementation 24

Capability: Working together 28

Using the Adaptation Capability Framework 32

Monitoring and Evaluation 33

Finding Support 35

P
age 25



Scotland Adapts2

Ministerial foreword 
In 2016 Lord Krebs, the then Chairman of the Adaptation Sub-Committee of the Committee on Climate Change, said in relation to the first 
independent assessment of Scotland’s adaptation programme: “The impacts of climate change are becoming ever clearer, both in the UK 
and around the world. We must take action now to prepare for the further, inevitable changes we can expect…” 

Since then we have all seen and experienced further evidence of Scotland’s changing climate. In 2018 alone, we experienced the Beast from the East, followed a few 

months later by soaring summer temperatures that caused chaos on roads and public transport, and saw our farmers and wildlife struggling with water shortages. These 

extremes are expected to intensify over the coming decades. 

Scotland is a world leader on climate action. Our legislative framework supports action on both mitigation and adaptation, but even with our ambitious carbon emission 

reduction targets we will still have to respond to climate change and its impacts. We need to accelerate action on adaptation; approach challenges differently; and make 

decisions that take account of what is best for Scotland in the long-term.

Adapting to climate change will help make Scotland a better place to live now and for future generations. Being more climate ready will protect jobs, enhance the 

economy and safeguard our unique natural environment and cultural heritage. Public sector organisations have a key role to play in creating a more climate ready Scotland, 

and they have already shown strong leadership in helping to prepare Scotland Adapts: A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Scotland.

This pioneering new framework is an invaluable tool that can be used by public sector organisations at any stage of their adaptation journey. It provides tasks and 

resources that support a holistic, outcomes-focused approach which complements the action that the Scottish Government is taking to develop the second Scottish 

Climate Change Adaptation Programme. It will help Scotland’s public sector organisations transition from a risk-focused approach to climate change adaptation towards a 

positive, forward looking, outcomes-based approach. 

Public sector action on adaptation guided by the Framework will help ensure that Scotland remains a vibrant, thriving and sustainable place to live for generations to come. 

Roseanna Cunningham MSP  
Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform

P
age 26



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 3

Adaptation Scotland foreword
The public sector has a central role to play in enabling Scotland to adapt to the impacts of climate change. ‘Scotland Adapts:  
A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector’ is packed full of practical tasks, guidance, tools and case studies that 
will help organisations adapt effectively.

Adaptation Scotland is grateful to the many networks, organisations and individuals who have worked with us to develop the Framework, sharing their time and expertise to 

produce a resource that is grounded in reality and focused on building a climate ready future.

Adapting to climate change is not a standalone challenge – the actions that we take to adapt should deliver many benefits for society including addressing inequalities, 

supporting sustainable economic growth and nurturing a healthy natural environment. The Framework challenges organisations to consider how adaptation can be properly 

integrated and support progress against wider societal outcomes. 

We recognise that there is huge variety in the range and stage of adaptation work taking place across Scotland. The Framework and accompanying resources provides 

support for all – those just starting out and those who are at the cutting edge of adaptation action in Scotland and globally. 

Adapting to climate change is an iterative process. The tools, resources and training that support implementation of the Framework will be updated regularly as we continue 

to work alongside public sector organisations to support and learn from their adaptation work. By working together we will address the challenge of adapting to climate 

change and play a leading role in delivering Scotland’s ambition of a climate ready future.

Anna Beswick
Adaptation Scotland Programme Manager

P
age 27



Purpose 

This handbook is an 
introduction to climate 
change adaptation for 
Scotland’s public sector.  
It provides an overview of 
the Adaptation Capability 
Framework, which 
identifies four capabilities. 

Resources and support
This handbook is part of a set of Adaptation Scotland resources and support  
created for Scotland’s public sector. 

Visit the Adaptation Scotland website to access all of our resources: www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/

your-sector/public-sector

Scotland Adapts4

The Handbook  

– introduction to climate change 

adaptation for Scotland’s public 

sector.

Interactive Adaptation 
Capability Framework  

– access detailed task information, 

resources and case studies.

Online training modules  

– develop adaptation skills and 

expertise.

Starter pack  

– for organisations and individuals 

who are new to adaptation.

Benchmarking tool  
– assess progress and plan 

adaptation work.

P
age 28

http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector


A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 5

The consequences of climate change have been felt across our society and 

environment: from damage to infrastructure, to disruption of vital services, and a 

shift in growing seasons. With the rate of change set to intensify over the coming 

decades, we need to plan adaptation now. 

Together we have an opportunity to address challenges by managing climate risk 

effectively, and aligning adaptation with the delivery of stronger outcomes across 

the public sector. A pro-active adaptation approach can support long-term delivery 

of priorities like reducing health inequalities, tackling poverty and developing a 

sustainable economy. 

The public sector is subject to legal drivers, including the world-leading Climate 

Change (Scotland) Act 2009 and the Public Bodies Climate Change Duties, which 

require annual reporting of progress on climate action. The public sector needs to 

consider how it can help deliver Scotland’s objectives and adaptation outcomes in 

the Scottish Climate Change Adaptation Programme. 

At the heart of Scotland’s approach to adaptation is collaboration and partnership 

working. This is reflected in many of our shared successes to date: from regional 

partnerships, to knowledge networks and local initiatives. Together we have been 

able to make progress on adaptation, and our recognised emphasis on partnership 

working puts us at the forefront of global efforts to adapt.

This collaborative approach has been put into practice to develop the Adaptation 

Capability Framework, which is the basis of Adaptation Scotland’s new guidance 

for the public sector. It draws upon the collective knowledge and experience of 

practitioners from local authorities, health boards, infrastructure providers, agencies, 

and university estates. 

The Framework has been developed on the principle that successful adaptation 

is not simply a case of improving understanding through analysing climate data 

and risk models. Effective leadership, governance arrangements, inclusive planning 

approaches and working beyond organisation and sectoral silos, are of equal 

importance for successful adaptation. 

The resulting framework is a pioneering capability-maturity approach that aims 

to support organisations adapt to climate change. It identifies four capabilities 

that need to be developed, and recommends tasks that support progress for 

organisations starting out to those leading the way. 

The Framework supports a flexible approach, one that can be tailored to each 

organisation’s unique circumstances. You need to be able to take opportunities, 

work within constraints, and adjust to changing conditions on your adaptation 

journey. 

Introduction
Scotland’s climate is already changing. There is a long-term trend of warming temperatures, shifting rainfall patterns and rising 
sea level. We have experienced this as highly variable weather – hot, cold, wet and dry – that has proved hugely challenging in 
recent years. 

P
age 29



Scotland Adapts6

We are already seeing evidence of Scotland’s climate changing. Over the last few 

decades there has been a warming trend, shifting rainfall patterns and rising sea 

level. We have also been impacted by severe weather events, from storms to 

heatwaves. 

 Scotland’s 10 warmest years on record have all been since 1997. The average 

temperature in the last decade (2009-2018) was 0.67°C warmer than the  

1961-1990 average. The warmest year on record was 2014. 

 In the past few decades there has been an increase in rainfall over Scotland.  

The annual average rainfall in the last decade (2009-2018) was 15% wetter  

than the 1961-1990 average, with winters 25% wetter. The wettest year on 

record was 2011. 

 Mean sea level around the UK has risen by approximately 1.4 mm/year from  

the start of the 20th century, when corrected for land movement.

Based on Met Office NCIC data and State of the UK Climate 2017.1

1 https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate/uk/about/state-of-climate

Climate projections indicate that the climate trends observed over the last century 

will continue and intensify over the coming decades. We can expect future changes 

in climate to be far greater than anything we have seen in the past. 

We can expect the following changes:2

  Average temperatures will increase in all seasons (H), with the greatest increase 

in summer (M)

  What is considered a heatwave or extremely hot summer today will occur more 

frequently in future (M).

  Rainfall is projected to become more seasonal, with an increase in average winter 

and autumn rainfall (M). Average summer rainfall may decrease (L).

  Heavy rainfall events may occur more frequently in winter, spring and autumn 

(M). An increase in summer heavy rainfall events is uncertain (L).

  Snow is projected to be less frequent in coastal locations like Edinburgh with 

rising temperatures (H), although by how much is complicated by increased 

winter precipitation (L).

  The growing season will continue to lengthen due to increasing temperatures in 

spring and autumn (H).

  Winter storms with extreme rainfall may become more frequent (L), although 

there is large uncertainty in models.

  Sea level will rise (H).

Our efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions will, along with the international 

community, limit the extent of future climate change. But they cannot prevent 

significant changes from occurring. 

2 Assessment of ‘Overall Confidence’ in scientific evidence for individual statements: High (H), Medium (M) and 
Low (L). Report: Future changes in precipitation and temperature, ClimateXChange 2017. Note that these were 
assessed prior to release of UKCP18.

Scotland’s changing climate

P
age 30

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate/uk/about/state-of-climate


A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 7

UKCP18 climate projections for Scotland showing change in mean temperature and 

precipitation from 1961 – 2100. 

These are probabilistic projections: the dashed line is 50% central estimate; inner 

shading 25-75%; middle shading 10-90%; outer shading 5-95%. All values are 

compared to a 1981-2000 baseline average. 

UKCP18 by Met Office Hadley Centre: http://ukclimateprojections.metoffice.gov.uk

1960 1980 2000 2020 2040 2060 2080 2100

1960 1980 2000 2020 2040 2060 2080 2100

1960 1980 2000 2020 2040 2060 2080 2100

8

6

4

2

0

-2

80

40

0

-40

-80

80

40

0

-40

-80

C
h

an
g

e 
in

 M
ea

n
 T

em
p

er
at

u
re

 (
o
C

)

C
h

an
g

e 
in

 P
re

ci
p

it
at

io
n

 (%
)

C
h

an
g

e 
in

 P
re

ci
p

it
at

io
n

 (%
)

Annual Mean Temperature
High Emissions (RCP 8.5) RCP 8.5

RCP 2.6

Summer Precipitation
High Emissions (RCP 8.5)

Winter Precipitation
High Emissions (RCP 8.5)

P
age 31

http://ukclimateprojections.metoffice.gov.uk


Scotland Adapts8

THE HEALTH OF OUR NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

Climate change may affect the delicate balance of Scotland’s ecosystems and 

transform Scotland’s habitats and biodiversity, adding to existing pressures. Some 

distinctive Scottish species may struggle and could be lost, invasive non-native 

species may thrive, while a degraded environment may not be able to sustain 

productive land or water supply.

THE PRODUCTIVITY OF OUR AGRICULTURE & FORESTS

cm
A warming climate has the potential to improve growing conditions in Scotland and 

increase the productivity of our agriculture and forestry. However, climate change 

will also pose a number of threats, from more variable and extreme weather to the 

spread of pests and diseases, which may limit this potential.

THE OCCURRENCE OF PESTS AND DISEASE

As our climate changes, it will create conditions that may allow existing pests and 

disease to spread and new threats to become established in Scotland. This may 

impact on the health of our people, animals, plants and ecosystems if risks are not 

properly managed.

THE QUALITY OF OUR SOILS

We rely on soils to sustain biodiversity, support agriculture and forestry, regulate the 

water cycle and store carbon. Soils also preserve archaeological deposits and 

artifacts. Soils and vegetation may be altered by changes to rainfall patterns and 

increased temperatures – as well as by the way we use the land.

What does climate change mean for Scotland?
Climate change will have profound impacts for all areas of life in Scotland. The public sector has a responsibility to understand 
potential impacts and respond. There is a growing evidence base on climate impacts that is available to inform us – including UK 
Climate Change Risk Assessments. Based on available evidence, 15 Key Consequences for Scotland were highlighted in the Scottish 
Climate Change Adaptation Programme (2014). The public sector is diverse in its functions – some may be more directly relevant 
to your organisation’s remit – although most will impact on your organisation in some way. 

P
age 32



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 9

THE SECURITY OF OUR FOOD SUPPLY

Climate change may have an impact on global food production. Although Scotland 

may be able to grow more food, this will not offset the impact global disruption has 

on us. Increased volatility in the global commodity market due to exposure to 

extreme climatic events has an impact on supply and cost of food.

THE AVAILABILITY AND QUALITY OF WATER

As our climate warms and rainfall patterns change, there may be increased 

competition for water between households, agriculture, industry and the needs of 

the natural environment. Summer droughts may become more frequent and more 

severe, causing problems for water quality and supply.

THE INCREASED RISK OF FLOODING

Flooding can already have a devastating effect on those affected. With climate 

change likely to alter rainfall patterns and bring more heavy downpours, we expect 

flood risk to increase in the future. This could impact on properties and infrastructure 

– with serious consequences for our people, heritage, businesses and communities.

THE CHANGE AT OUR COAST

Sea level rise is already having widespread impact on parts of Scotland’s coast. With 

this set to accelerate over the coming decades, we can expect to see more coastal 

flooding, erosion and coastline retreat – with consequences for our coastal 

communities and supporting infrastructure.

THE HEALTH OF OUR MARINE ENVIRONMENT

Our marine ecosystems – from plankton through to fish, mammals and seabirds – are 

already being affected by climate change alongside other pressures, particularly fishing. 

Rising temperatures are likely to change species and their distributions. The changes will 

present both threats and opportunities to our commercial fisheries and aquaculture.

THE RESILIENCE OF OUR BUSINESSES
BRIDGE
CLOSED

SO
LD
 O
UT

Climate change and associated extreme weather may disrupt transport, energy and 

communication networks in Scotland and around the world. This could impact on 

markets, affect supply chains and raise insurance costs.

P
age 33



Scotland Adapts10

THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF OUR PEOPLE

A warming climate may provide more opportunity to be outdoors and enjoy a 

healthy and active lifestyle, while reducing mortality in winter. However, it could 

affect patterns of disease and other health issues. Climate change and associated 

extreme weather may disrupt the lives of individuals and communities, limiting 

access to vital services and impacting on people’s physical and mental health. 

OUR CULTURAL HERITAGE AND IDENTITY

The changing climate is already altering our unique Scottish landscape and 

threatening our historic environment through coastal erosion, flooding and wetter, 

warmer conditions. The increased pace of climate change presents challenges to all 

those involved in the care, protection and promotion of the historic environment.

THE SECURITY AND EFFICIENCY OF OUR ENERGY SUPPLY

Climate change may influence Scotland’s capacity to generate weather-dependent 

renewable energy. For example, varying water availability will affect hydro electric 

generation. Climate change can also impact power distribution, with impacts ranging 

from damage caused by extreme weather events, to reduced transmission efficiency 

occurring as a result of temperature fluctuations. Impacts on global energy markets may 

also affect energy supplies in Scotland and consequently our overall energy security.

THE PERFORMANCE OF OUR BUILDINGS

Climate change will have an impact on the design, construction, management and 

use of our buildings and surroundings. Whether retrofitting existing or building new, 

it is likely that there will be issues with water management (in flood and drought), 

weather resistance and overheating.

INFRASTRUCTURE – NETWORK CONNECTIVITY AND 
INTERDEPENDENCIES

Our energy, transport, water, and ICT networks support services are vital to our 

health and wellbeing, and economic prosperity. The effect of climate change on 

these infrastructure systems will be varied. They are likely to be impacted by an 

increase in disruptive events such as flooding, landslides, drought and heatwaves. 

Our infrastructure is closely inter-linked and failure in any area can lead to wider 

disruption across these networks. 

P
age 34



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 11

Our response to the challenges of a changing climate is ‘adaptation’.

Adaptation is ‘the adjustment in economic, social or natural systems in response 

to actual or expected climate change, to limit harmful consequences and exploit 

beneficial opportunities’ (Scottish Climate Change Adaptation Programme, The 

Scottish Government, 2014).

While the challenges we face from the impacts of climate change are significant, 

good adaptation can deliver both short-term benefits and progress towards long-

term outcomes.

Adaptation takes place at all scales. From small incremental measures, like adjusting 

working practices for severe weather, to large-scale investments, like a new flood 

protection scheme or housing development. 

Adaptation planning can be based on detailed analysis, planning and decision-

making processes. This informs a robust, long-term effort to achieve adaptation 

outcomes. However, adaptation also needs to be flexible and creative. Be prepared 

to take opportunities when they arise. You will also need to adjust your plans as you 

learn and make progress – or if circumstances change. 

By progressing with adaptation you can achieve a range of benefits, including: 

  Positive vision for the future – adaptation needs to work towards delivering 

a long-term vision and outcomes. This is most effective when it aligns with wider 

societal outcomes – including health, inequality, housing, economic development – 

and can ensure that long-term progress is not limited by emerging climate risks. 

  Improve efficiency – embedding adaptation does require you to commit resources 

in the short-term. But in the longer term it will help support efficient use of staff and 

resources – and you can avoid potentially costly recovery and retrofit programmes. 

  Use knowledge effectively – there is an abundance of research, tools and 

advice on how to adapt to climate change – even when faced with uncertainty, 

complexity and changing conditions. However, to avoid being overwhelmed you 

need to define a realistic scope and purpose for your adaptation work. Make 

space to learn and develop over time. 

  Create a ‘Learning Organisation’ – learning from experience is critical to 

adaptation, which will take place in a dynamic and at times unpredictable 

environment. You need to build institutional knowledge and influence a range of 

plans, policies and procedures. This can be challenging, but it can also open up 

opportunities to implement change. 

  Partnership and collaboration – the delivery of many adaptation actions 

will need to involve partners. By working together we can do more to achieve 

shared adaptation outcomes. Look across your organisation and to others for 

opportunities to identify shared risks and implement adaptation solutions. 

  A flexible approach – there is no standardised, one-size-fits-all approach 

to adaptation. You need to take an adaptation journey that is right for your 

organisation. You should seek to maintain flexibility and develop an iterative 

approach for decision making which includes identifying pathways that can 

help you adapt in the future as conditions change. 

Adaptation: our response to climate change 

P
age 35



Scotland Adapts12

Adaptation helps deliver outcomes

Adaptation to climate change delivers on a broader set 

of societal outcomes. It is integral to progress on the 

UN Sustainable Development Goals and the aligned 

Scottish National Outcomes that are part of our 

National Performance Framework.3 

The second Scottish Climate Change Adaptation 

Programme (due 2019) is set within these frameworks 

– and is developing action plans to deliver against 

seven adaptation outcomes. The public sector should 

consider how it can effectively contribute to delivery of 

these outcomes. 

Adaptation also needs to be aligned with a public 

sector organisation’s strategic outcomes and priorities; 

and with those it contributes to – like Local Outcome 

Improvement Plans. By doing this, adaptation becomes 

integral to the functions of an organisation and its 

ability to achieve outcomes. It can also be more 

efficient, with cost savings made possible when 

adaptation is delivered as part of business-as-usual 

rather than an additional activity.

3 https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/

The role of the public sector

Figure 1 Scotland’s National Performance Framework

P
age 36

https://nationalperformance.gov.scot


A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 13

Public sector influence

The public sector is playing a crucial role in delivering action to enable Scotland to 

adapt to the impacts of climate change. Case studies included in this handbook 

demonstrate leading examples of progress and highlight the vital role that the public 

sector has in influencing adaptation action across society. 

  Building resilience – it is essential that buildings, infrastructure and services 

delivered by the public sector are built and managed to adapt to the impacts of 

climate change. These assets are crucial to society, and ensuring that they adapt 

will create a strong foundation for adaptation across all sectors and places. 

  Strategic planning – the public sector has a responsibility to take a long-term 

view – with the needs of current and future generations in mind. It should 

consider potential climate impacts in strategic decision-making, including spatial 

planning, investment and regeneration. 

  Community engagement – involving communities in the design and delivery 

of adaptation better targets local circumstances. Enable people to adjust your 

plans and take the opportunity to influence others. 

  Procurement – the public sector has significant purchasing power and the 

ability to influence products, services, supply chains and investment decisions. 

It can require high standards of resilience and adaptation in contracts and 

procurement. This would safeguard business continuity, future proof investments 

and support market development of goods and services that enable adaptation. 

Legislative and policy drivers

Adaptation is a legal imperative for the public sector and is supported by legislative 

and policy drivers. The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 requires the Scottish 

Government to implement a statutory Scottish Climate Change Adaptation 

Programme. The Public Bodies Climate Change Duties contained within the Act 

require public sector organisations to act in the way best calculated to implement 

the statutory programme and report progress annually. 

Other legislative drivers include the Flood Risk Management (Scotland) Act 2009 

which contains specific provisions for adaptation including a requirement that Flood 

Risk Management Plans must take account of any impacts of climate change on the 

occurrence of floods.

Strategy and policy drivers such as National Planning Framework 3, Scottish 

Planning Policy, the Land Use Strategy and the Scottish Forestry Strategy are 

increasingly integrating climate change adaptation as part of key outcomes, 

objectives and activities. 

 
Taking action

There are good examples of adaptation being delivered in Scotland. This includes 

new homes, schools and infrastructure being built to be resilient and adaptable 

to current and future climate; organisations completing climate change risk 

assessments for services, assets and locations; and new partnerships forming to 

enable collaboration as the pace and scale of adaptation increases. 

There are also many cases where adaptation is being taken forward within 

organisations, but is not necessarily called ‘adaptation’. This could include flood risk 

management, biodiversity action planning or urban greening programmes.

Although a lot is happening, there are many missed opportunities where climate 

impacts are not being factored into decision making. This could result in increased 

risk and cost in the future. 

The Adaptation Capability Framework is designed to enable action. There are 

clear tasks to identify, appraise and implement actions – and this is supported 

by the rest of the framework that creates enabling conditions for a public sector 

organisation to act. 

P
age 37



Scotland Adapts14

Adaptation Capability Framework
The Adaptation Capability Framework is based on the principle that successful adaptation is not simply a case of better 
understanding climate data and risk models. Effective leadership, governance arrangements, inclusive planning approaches and 
working beyond organisation and sectoral silos are of equal importance for successful adaptation.

The Framework has been developed by Adaptation Scotland in collaboration with 

policy makers and practitioners from across Scotland’s public sector. It draws upon 

our shared decade of experience delivering adaptation, while overcoming barriers 

and pitfalls along the way.

Structure of the Framework

The Framework aims to promote a holistic approach to adaptation. Based on 

local and international experience, we have developed a ‘capability-maturity’ 

approach that draws upon the characteristics of well-adapting organisations. 

These are clustered into four adaptation capabilities for organisations, which can 

be developed by completing recommended tasks as you progress through four 

maturity stages. 

Capability: the Framework is based on the idea that an organisation has 

adaptation ‘capability’ that determines its ability to deliver adaptation. This capability 

is multi-faceted – and in the Framework we have categorised it into four adaptation 

capabilities: 

  Organisational culture and resources is focussed on organisational priorities, 

governance structures and resource availability 

  Understanding the challenge develops the robust evidence base on risk and 

vulnerability to inform decision-making 

  Planning and implementation aligns adaptation with objectives, options 

appraisal, adaptation strategy development and delivery 

  Working together fosters networking and collaboration for joint adaptation 

action to achieve shared adaptation outcomes. 

Maturity stages: adaptation requires sustained, long-term commitment  

from an organisation – and adaptation capability will develop over time.  

The Framework includes maturity stages for each of the four capabilities:  

1. Starting, 2. Intermediate, 3. Advanced, and 4. Mature. 

Tasks: the Framework includes recommended tasks for each capability, and at each 

maturity stage. By completing these tasks, your organisation will be developing 

capabilities – and delivering adaptation. The Handbook includes a high-level 

description of tasks, more detailed information is provided online.

P
age 38



P
age 39



Scotland Adapts16

  Leadership – the support of senior leaders can accelerate adaptation in 

an organisation. It is also important to recognise and empower adaptation 

‘champions’, individuals who can lead the way in your organisation. People at all 

levels can be these ‘agents of change’.

  Reflection & flexibility – space needs to be made to try new approaches, 

to learn from experience, and to improve procedures, strategies and actions in 

response. There also needs to be flexibility to recognise that the landscape may 

change as adaptation progresses.

CAPABILITY: ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE & RESOURCES
To make progress with adaptation, it will need to fit with your organisational culture and resources. By developing this capability 
you will find ways to align adaptation activities with your organisation’s priorities. Over time they will become mainstreamed into 
plans, policies and procedures – becoming part of business-as-usual for your organisation. 

Key aspects include: 

  Resources – you will need to commit resources to progress adaptation. These 

will vary depending on task, but include human, physical, financial, information 

and intellectual resources. Some of these can be allocated or developed 

internally, others will need to come from external sources. 

  Governance – your organisation will have distinct structures, ways of making 

decisions and of delegating responsibilities. For adaptation to be effective it 

will need to fit with your overall governance arrangements but also have clear 

project governance that allows it to deliver change. 

P
age 40



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 17

MATURITY STAGE: STARTING
Your organisation is able to communicate why adaptation matters by linking it 

to your strategic objectives. You have considered where adaptation fits in your 

organisation and identified key opportunities to begin your adaptation work  

– as well as what resources are available to support it. 

MATURITY STAGE: INTERMEDIATE
Your organisation is now prepared to work on adaptation. Leadership has put in 

place governance arrangements and committed suitable resources to progress with 

your initial adaptation plans. There is an emerging set of people in your organisation 

who can see opportunities to deliver adaptation – and may become adaptation 

‘champions’.

OC1A  Consider how adaptation fits with your organisation and its 
objectives 

Identify how adaptation supports delivery 

of your organisation’s strategic objectives. 

Use this to communicate why adaptation 

matters. You will need to consider 

where adaptation is best placed in your 

organisation and start to identify relevant 

groups and decision making processes. 

OC1B  Identify resources available for adaptation 

Adaptation is a long-term process 

that will see you undertake 

many tasks requiring a range 

of different resources – human, 

physical, financial, information and 

intellectual. It is useful to survey 

resources that already exist within 

your organisation that will enable 

you to plan and deliver future work. 

OC2A Secure resources to plan and deliver adaptation 

Your organisation will need committed resources – human, physical, financial, 

information and intellectual – to progress with adaptation. You need to secure 

those needed for short-term activities, but also look ahead at likely future 

needs. Consider both internal and external sources. 

OC2B  Engage with colleagues to identify adaptation opportunities 
and potential ‘champions’

Your organisation will (or could) be delivering adaptation through many of its 

functions. By actively engaging colleagues across your organisation you can 

identify opportunities to include adaptation in planned work – as well as key 

people who could become adaptation ‘champions’. 

OC2C  Establish governance arrangements for adaptation

Setting up governance arrangements for 

adaptation is essential to enable effective decision-

making and collaborative delivery across your 

organisation. Seek approval for an option that 

works for your organisation – and is able to deliver 

your adaptation objectives. 

P
age 41



Scotland Adapts18

MATURITY STAGE: ADVANCED
Your organisation now has governance arrangements in place to deliver adaptation. 

You are systematically identifying opportunities to include adaptation in plans, 

policies and procedures. These opportunities are being taken up by emerging 

adaptation ‘champions’ across your organisation. 

MATURITY STAGE: MATURE
Your organisation delivers a broad range of action on adaptation, which is now 

being mainstreamed into many plans, policies and procedures. Your governance 

arrangements are kept up-to-date and are able to reflect changing demands as 

more people become involved. There is a supported network of ‘champions’ who 

continue to lead the way on adaptation. 

OC3A Identify opportunities to include adaptation in plans, policies 
and procedures 

Take a systematic look across the breadth of your organisation’s functions to 

identify opportunities to include adaptation in plans, policies and procedures. 

Think about where you can make the most impact, but also look beyond the 

‘obvious’ to areas that may not have considered climate adaptation.

OC3B  Motivate ‘champions’ and actively promote adaptation across 
the organisation 

Your organisation should openly promote an adaptation agenda both internally 

and externally. Seek to recognise and empower adaptation ‘champions’, 

individuals who can lead the way in your organisation by setting goals, and  

advocating and resourcing initiatives on adaptation.

OC3C  Put governance arrangements for 
adaptation into operation 

An on-going effort is required to implement your 

approved adaptation governance arrangements. 

Good governance will provide oversight for a work 

programme, defines roles and responsibilities, and will 

have appropriate authority to approve and implement 

change.

OC4A Mainstream adaptation into your organisation’s plans, policies 
and procedures

You can reduce reliance on stand-alone adaptation actions (often seen as a 

burden) by mainstreaming into your organisation’s functions. Prioritise actions 

that will deliver most impact, but also embed adaptation considerations within 

review/update cycles for a wide range of plans, policies and procedures. 

OC4B  Develop a network of recognised adaptation ‘champions’

As more people become actively involved in delivering adaptation across your 

organisation, it is important to continue to recognise, support and – to avoid 

silos – coordinate those who are leading the way as adaptation ‘champions’. 

By developing a formal or informal network you can create space for 

communication and encourage peer support.

OC4C  Review and update governance 
arrangements for adaptation

Your organisation should periodically review, reflect 

on and update governance arrangements for 

adaptation. This will help you take opportunities 

that arise and account for changing demands as 

adaptation progresses – as well as respond to any 

wider changes taking place in your organisation.

P
age 42



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 19

CASE STUDY:  
SCOTTISH NATURAL HERITAGE

Creating an organisational culture that promotes climate ready solutions to 
manage Scotland’s nature and landscapes: Mary Christie is the Policy & Advice 
Manager and Natural Capital Team Manager at Scottish Natural Heritage 
(SNH). She has worked with the Natural Resource Management team to build 
understanding of climate change adaptation throughout the organisation.

‘In 2012, we developed Adaptation Principles to 

guide us in helping nature adapt to climate change. 

Embedding these principles into our projects 

encourages the development of climate adaptive 

actions, which are critical to improve ecosystem 

health and resilience to current and future climate 

change. (OC3A)

To further mainstream the adaptation principles 

and help staff understand the impact of climate 

change on Scotland’s environment, we developed 

an internal e-learning module for new and existing 

staff. This is supported by the Climate Champions 

Network, where one person in each work unit 

is tasked with updating and discussing climate 

change with colleagues. Climate Champions 

report back to the Climate Change Unit on work 

undertaken in their units, creating a two way 

conversation between the team and the rest of 

the organisation.(OC3B)

One of the challenges we face is that our staff 

already have high workloads, and limited time 

to commit to training or more work around 

climate change. Climate Champions help share 

the message that action on adaptation to climate 

change is not extra work, but a fundamental part 

of doing our job well. This message is supported 

by leadership at SNH, who have embedded climate 

change across all aspects of the new Corporate 

Plan for 2018-2022. While the previous corporate 

plan identified climate change as a key theme, the 

new plan represents a major shift. We no longer 

have a climate specific theme or target. Instead, 

climate change is implicit and expected to be 

considered in every aspect of our work. (OC4A)

Climate change risk has also been included in risk 

management and business planning. Reporting is 

undertaken on a quarterly basis to assess progress 

on climate related risks, and managers are then 

required to review and take further action if 

necessary as part of their business planning (OC3C). 

Changing our culture and attitude to climate 
change adaptation at the organisational level 
is an ongoing and iterative task that is far 
from complete, but we are working across all 
levels and sectors to embed climate change 
and adaptation into the way SNH operates.’ 

P
age 43



Scotland Adapts20

Key aspects include: 

 Knowledge – build an understanding of climate change and different 

approaches to adaptation. This needs to be translated into your specific context, 

with the knowledge shared across your organisation. You will continue to learn 

and adjust as you make progress with adaptation. 

 Evidence – you need an evidence base to inform decision-making in your 

organisation. As you progress you will develop evidence for long-term impacts 

under a range of possible futures – and make sure that you can use this to 

inform climate change risk assessment. 

 Research & innovation – adaptation is still a relatively new as a process, 

especially where it is put into practice in the ‘real world’. As part of a global 

community learning to adapt you have an opportunity to connect with external 

expertise to fill knowledge gaps and drive innovation. 

CAPABILITY: UNDERSTANDING THE CHALLENGE
Adaptation is our adjustment to climate change, by understanding the challenge we can make informed decisions based on 
actual or expected change. By developing this capability you will gather evidence on climate risks and vulnerabilities, then 
integrate these into internal systems and procedures. 

P
age 44



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 21

MATURITY STAGE: STARTING
Your organisation is learning about climate change and its potential impacts in 

Scotland. You will have pulled together key information that is most relevant to your 

organisation – and this is being used to raise awareness and develop a common 

understanding of potential consequences. 

MATURITY STAGE: INTERMEDIATE
Your organisation is building an understanding – and evidence – of potential climate 

impacts that are specific to your context and linked to strategic and operational 

priorities. By engaging internal stakeholders you are able to identify key functions 

that could be affected by climate change. Exploring recent weather events provides 

insight into climate-related vulnerabilities.

UC1A   Learn about Scotland’s changing climate

An understanding of past climate trends and future projections is a necessary 

foundation for adaptation. The UK Climate Projections provide key messages 

and you can access localised climate information for a range of climate 

variables, including temperature and rainfall. 

UC1B   Learn about climate impacts affecting Scotland

The climate is already 

changing, and impacts 

are being felt throughout 

Scotland. Understanding 

the consequences of 

climate change for 

Scotland – and locally – 

will help you understand 

how it could impact your 

organisation. Learn about 

these by accessing key 

synthesis reports. 

UC2A Develop understanding of climate risk and vulnerability

Risk and vulnerability are key concepts for understanding the potential impacts 

of climate change on your organisation. To inform robust decision-making 

these need to be understood in your specific context – and you need to 

identify and access relevant sources of evidence. 

UC2B   Consider how your organisation’s functions might be affected 
by climate change

Your organisation will have many functions that might be affected by climate 

change. To identify these you will need to engage with a diverse range 

of internal stakeholders to explore the connection between strategic and 

operational priorities and climate impacts. 

UC2C  Explore the impact of recent weather events on your 
organisation

Your organisation will have been affected 

by recent weather events. Exploring the 

consequences of specific events with colleagues 

is a way to explore climate-related vulnerabilities 

in more depth. These can be useful narratives 

for raising awareness, as well as providing initial 

evidence of potential costs in some cases. 

P
age 45



Scotland Adapts22

MATURITY STAGE: ADVANCED
Your organisation is building an evidence base for long-term climate impacts under a range of 

possible futures. This is used to inform climate change risk assessment – whether for strategic 

organisational risks, priority service areas or specific projects. You are now able to identify 

knowledge gaps and are working with others to address them. 

MATURITY STAGE: MATURE
Your organisation is embedding knowledge on climate and adaptation 

into internal systems, enabling routine use by people in their day-to-day 

roles. This includes assessing climate risk within a wider risk management 

framework. You continue to learn and adjust to the climate adaptation 

challenge, connecting with a wide range of partners to co-produce 

adaptation solutions. 
UC3A   Explore future change by developing scenarios and/or storylines for 

climate impacts 

Climate projections provide a range of possible future climates that can be used to understand 

potential impacts. It is also important to consider how changes in socio-economic conditions 

could alter your vulnerability and influence your adaptation responses. The use of scenarios and 

storylines approaches enable you to explore a range of possibilities under future conditions. 

UC3B    Undertake strategic climate change risk assessment

A strategic risk assessment is used to evaluate climate risks across your organisation, or 

for key service / asset portfolios. This strategic ‘scan’ helps to understand the changing 

likelihood and consequence of a range of potential risks for your organisation. It enables you 

to prioritise climate risks, allowing you to better focus limited resources. 

UC3C   Undertake project-level climate change risk assessment

A project-level risk assessment is focussed on climate risks to a specific project, policy, asset, 

or location. These are typically justified if they have been identified as ‘at-risk’ in a strategic 

assessment, provide a critical function of your organisation or are major investments/assets. 

The narrow scope allows for an appropriately detailed analysis of climate risks. 

UC3D   Identify knowledge gaps, seek expertise and foster links with research 
and innovation

As work on adaptation advances, you should seek to identify knowledge gaps that are 

important to your decision making. Knowledge gaps, whether due to its absence or 

poor usability, could be addressed by seeking external expertise – and there may be 

opportunities to connect with research and innovation.

UC4A Mainstreaming of climate change risk assessment

Your organisation routinely undertakes strategic and project-level 

climate change risk assessments, as appropriate within a wider risk 

management framework (i.e. not just climate). You will ensure that 

there is senior ownership of key risks, and that these are effectively 

– and creatively – communicated within your organisation. 

UC4B  Accessible climate adaptation knowledge is 
integrated into internal systems and procedures

As internal knowledge of climate adaptation grows, it will need to 

be made accessible to many more people in your organisation in a 

form that is easily utilised in their work. Look for opportunities to 

integrate knowledge into internal systems and procedures, so that 

adaptation is no longer seen as an ‘add-on’ task. 

UC4C  Actively engage in sharing, learning, research and 
innovation

Climate adaptation is long-term challenge, and your organisation 

will need to continually learn and adjust to meet it. You will benefit 

from connecting with a range of potential partners, both locally 

and internationally. Research and innovation can be harnessed to 

co-produce adaptation solutions with local stakeholders.

P
age 46



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 23

CASE STUDY:  
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SCOTLAND 

Building an evidence base to inform climate ready decision-making for Scotland’s  
historic environment: David Harkin is a Climate Change Scientist with Historic  
Environment Scotland (HES). To understand how climate change will impact their 
Properties in Care, HES undertook a baseline assessment of climate change risk.

‘We are responsible for the care and maintenance of 

336 historic properties throughout Scotland. Many 

of these properties are situated in landscapes that 

are vulnerable to climate-related natural hazards. 

Like much of Scotland’s historic environment, our 

properties often show an inherent resilience to 

Scotland’s temperate climate, but climate change 

is creating new challenges that they were never 

designed to cope with. 

In order to gain a more thorough understanding 

of natural hazard risk across our diverse and 

complex estate, we worked in close partnership 

with the British Geological Survey and the Scottish 

Environment Protection Agency, to combine 

various natural hazard datasets into a Geographic 

Information System (GIS) database (UC2A). We 

then combined this with spatial data from our own 

properties and were able to assess the likelihood of 

various natural hazards occurring at our properties. 

This was used to create a baseline assessment that 

will allow us to now plan a more informed approach 

to managing these risks (UC3B). 

This initial assessment allowed us to identify 28 

properties that we considered to be at very high risk 

from one or more of the natural hazards assessed. 

Now we are spending time visiting properties to 

test the initial desk based assessment in person, 

and update as necessary. Many of these properties 

are in isolated and remote areas, and visiting each 

one for in-depth, site specific study and analysis is 

time-consuming, but a crucially important step to 

strengthen our evidence base (UC3C). The next 

steps will be to consider the landscapes beyond the 

boundaries of properties themselves, along with 

the climate impacts on staff and visitor safety, site 

operations and internal collections, and to consider 

how we incorporate UKCP18 data (UC3D). 

Evaluating the climate change risks to our 
estate has already improved our ability 
to prioritise ongoing actions and allocate 
resources more effectively. A strategic evidence 
based approach to managing climate risk 
is helping us give our properties, and the 
wider historic environment, a fighting chance 
of weathering the challenges presented by 
climate change’

A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 23
P

age 47



Scotland Adapts24

Key aspects include: 

 Strategic approach – you can help embed adaptation by aligning with the 

functions and purpose of your organisation. Set a clear vision and long-term 

outcomes to guide planning as you develop an adaptation strategy and action 

plan. Looking at the bigger picture will help make the most of opportunities. 

 Appraisal & prioritisation – you want to identify robust, acceptable, efficient 

and effective measures that can be taken forward in an action plan. Develop 

an evidence-based appraisal process to select options that will help you achieve 

strategic adaptation outcomes. 

 Take action – you learn by doing. From initial actions to a comprehensive 

programme, your organisation will build momentum by taking action. You also 

need to reflect, monitor and evaluate actions to ensure they are efficient and 

effective in achieving adaptation outcomes. 

CAPABILITY: PLANNING & IMPLEMENTATION
Adaptation is a long-term challenge that requires strategic planning and implementation to achieve outcomes. By developing 
this capability you will set appraised options into an adaptation strategy and action plan, adopting an approach that maintains 
flexibility and seeks pathways for an adaptation transition. 

P
age 48



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 25

MATURITY STAGE: STARTING
Your organisation is able to look at the big picture and see where it can make a 

contribution to a Climate Ready Scotland. You have recognised ways that you are 

already delivering adaptation actions – and have a plan for engaging key people 

from across your organisation. 

MATURITY STAGE: INTERMEDIATE
Your organisation has developed a clear vision of ‘climate ready’ and has defined 

adaptation outcomes that align with your organisation’s purpose. You are 

considering an emerging set of potential adaptation actions and can pull these 

together into an action plan – while implementing early practical actions. 

PI1A  Identify actions already delivering adaptation

Your organisation will already be taking actions that deliver adaptation, even if 

they are not always recognised. By identifying some of these actions you can 

demonstrate alignment with your organisation’s functions – and show that you 

have already begun an adaptation journey. 

PI1B  Consider how you contribute to Scotland’s adaptation outcomes

The public sector has a key role in delivering the Scottish Climate Change 

Adaptation Programme, which sets strategic adaptation outcomes for a 

Scotland that is climate ready. Show how your organisation fits in the  

bigger picture by considering how you might contribute to delivering  

these outcomes. 

PI1C  Identify key internal 
stakeholders for adaptation

Planning adaptation will require you to 

interact with stakeholders from across your 

organisation. Develop an engagement 

plan that identifies key people based on 

emerging organisational priorities and areas 

of on-going adaptation action. 

PI21  Define a vision and outcomes for adaptation

Adaptation is a long-term strategic challenge that you will need to align with 

your organisation’s purpose. You should develop a ‘climate ready’ vision, and 

define adaptation outcomes that allow you to strategically plan an effective 

adaptation response. 

PI2B   Identify a range of potential adaptation actions 

As you increase awareness of climate impacts, you need to start planning 

an adaptation response. Compile a set of options for actions that your 

organisation could take – either alone or with partners. It is important to 

consider a wide range of actions, both short- and long-term, easy and difficult. 

PI2C  Develop an initial adaptation strategy and action plan

For many organisations, an initial adaptation strategy and action plan can act 

as a catalyst for raising awareness and resourcing further adaptation work. At 

this stage the focus will mostly be on setting strategic objectives and capacity 

building initiatives. 

PI2D  Take action to deliver adaptation

Your organisation should be able to take early practical action on adaptation 

by building upon existing projects or implementing no-regret / quick-win 

actions. These help raise the profile of adaptation – building internal support 

and helping to spur further action.

P
age 49



Scotland Adapts26

MATURITY STAGE: ADVANCED
Your organisation has developed and is now implementing an adaptation strategy and action 

plan. This coordinates and integrates adaptation into relevant projects, policies and plans across 

your organisation and with partners. There is an appraisal of adaptation options that places 

them within a strategic context, aligned with your organisation’s adaptation goals/outcomes. 

This enables effective prioritisation and sequencing of adaptation measures.

MATURITY STAGE: MATURE
Your organisation is now taking a strategic approach to adaptation, which 

is becoming business-as-usual as it is mainstreamed into plans, policies and 

procedures. You are able to be flexible and allow for uncertainty, adopting 

an iterative adaptive management cycle and planning into the long-term, 

for example using adaptation pathways to manage climate risks. 

PI3A  Develop a strategic change process for achieving adaptation outcomes

Set the strategic context for adaptation by systematically laying out the steps required 

to achieve long-term adaptation outcomes. By developing a ‘change process’ that 

includes specific intermediate outcomes you will be able to better design, monitor and 

evaluate a programme of activities. 

PI3B  Appraisal of adaptation options

An appraisal process will allow your organisation to consider a range of factors when 

selecting and prioritising from an emerging set of adaptation options. This will help 

identify robust, acceptable, efficient and effective measures that can be taken forward 

in an action plan. 

PI3C  Develop a comprehensive adaptation strategy and action plan

A ‘comprehensive’ adaptation strategy and action plan draws together knowledge of 

climate risk and appraised adaptation options, and translates your strategic objectives 

into practical action. It should coordinate and integrate adaptation into relevant 

projects, policies and plans across your organisation and with partners.

PI3D  Implement a programme of adaptation actions

Your organisation should now be ready to implement a range of prioritised adaptation 

actions, with appropriate resources allocated. The actions should contribute to achieving your 

adaptation outcomes, with suitable monitoring and evaluation to learn from experience.

PI4A  Adopt an ongoing adaptive management cycle for  
adaptation planning

An adaptive management cycle is a flexible, iterative approach 

for decision-making when faced with uncertainty, complexity 

and changing conditions – and well suited to climate adaptation. 

Effective learning and evaluation informs adjustments to strategies 

and actions. 

PI4B  Taking action on adaptation is mainstreamed into 
your organisation’s functions

For adaptation to become routine, it needs to be mainstreamed 

into the business-as-usual activities in your organisation when 

delivering its functions. It is essential to monitor and evaluate this 

mainstreamed delivery to ensure it achieves adaptation outcomes. 

PI4C  Implement pathways for adaptation / 
transformational change 

Alongside delivery of other societal priorities, climate adaptation 

will require significant change. It may require transformation, a 

fundamental change in our systems. An adaptation transition can 

be approached using pathways, which need to integrate climate 

action with monitoring and evaluation of progress and path 

dependencies. 

P
age 50



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 27

CASE STUDY:  
SCOTTISH CANALS

Flexible planning to manage uncertain climate impacts: Peter Robinson  
is the Head of Engineering at Scottish Canals. A flexible and responsive  
approach to asset management is helping ensure that Scotland’s network  
of canals is maintained to ensure long term safety and sustainability. 

‘We are responsible for managing over 4100 assets 

that comprise our five Scottish canals, as well as the 

bridges, buildings, locks, water supply reservoirs and 

landmarks like the Falkirk Wheel and the Kelpies that 

make up Scotland’s inland waterways network. Much 

of this 140-mile network is inland, with only 6 coastal 

connections that are vulnerable to rising sea levels. The 

rest of the network is reasonably resilient to climate 

impacts in the short term, and can even contribute 

to resilience more broadly through initiatives such as 

the Glasgow Smart Canal Project. The Smart Canal is 

helping to manage flood risk and move water resources 

during projected hotter and drier summers (PI1B). 

Each one of our diverse assets has unique 

management and maintenance challenges which 

must be addressed to ensure that they remain safe 

and available for the millions of visitors who use our 

network each year. In the long term climate change 

will alter the way our assets deteriorate, and our 

Asset Management Strategy ensures that when 

making management decisions we now take climate 

impacts into consideration, such as potential changes 

in rainfall, temperature and extreme weather that 

will contribute to the deterioration of assets. (PI2C) 

To respond to uncertainty around how climate 

change will interact with our assets in the long term, 

we have developed a flexible planning approach 

to manage our assets in a way that is responsive 

to emerging risks (PI2D). The Asset Management 

Strategy outlines how we will manage our priorities 

until 2030 to ensure the safety and long term 

sustainability of our assets. This long-term strategic 

direction is delivered through a 3 year forward 

looking Asset Management Plan that is reviewed 

and updated on an annual basis. This flexible 

management cycle allows us to take new and 

emerging risks into account, including those related 

to climate change (PI4A).

Our approach combines long term planning with 

short-term flexibility and risk-based responsiveness. 

Climate change will bring new, and sometimes 

unanticipated, challenges that may threaten 

the safety of the public or cause disruption to 

interconnected transport infrastructure if not 

addressed. Our flexible, risk-based approach to 
asset management is agile and responsive to 
direct and indirect climate impacts, allowing 
us to prioritise and plan a work programme 
that keeps Scotland’s canals safe and 
productive.’

A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 27
P

age 51



Scotland Adapts28

Key aspects include: 

 Networks – you can achieve more by sharing and learning from others. Make the 

most of support available, and connect with peers, whether through adaptation-

focussed or other professional networks. Engage with relevant groups, forums and 

partnerships where adaptation is appropriate within their remit.

 Partnership – collaboration can be essential to achieving adaptation outcomes. 

You may need to formalise partnership arrangements, either building upon 

existing arrangements or establishing a new partnership. Agree roles, 

responsibilities and funding allocations.

 Engagement – sustained engagement is an on-going commitment to involve 

a diverse range of stakeholders in communities, businesses and the third sector. 

Well-planned and inclusive engagement will allow for adjustment of your plans 

and is an opportunity for you to influence others. 

 Joint action – the delivery of many adaptation actions will need to involve 

partners. Build collaborative relationships by taking action, from agreeing 

resources for initial activities to the co-financing for multi-year investment in a 

programme of adaptation action.

CAPABILITY: WORKING TOGETHER
No organisation can adapt alone, by working together we can do more to achieve shared adaptation outcomes. By developing 
this capability you will forge connections with key partners to share ideas and find opportunities to collaborate. You will benefit 
from engaging a diverse range of stakeholders to help shape your adaptation plans. 

P
age 52



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 29

MATURITY STAGE: STARTING
Your organisation is beginning to forge connections with others working on 

adaptation. You are becoming active in relevant networks to share learning and 

expertise. You are also identifying opportunities to consider adaptation in other 

groups, partnerships and forums.

MATURITY STAGE: INTERMEDIATE
Your organisation is deepening its connection with partners on adaptation. You are 

taking opportunities to include adaptation in a range of your organisation’s external 

activities, including co-delivery of initial actions. Together you are emphasising the 

importance of collective action. 

WT1A  Join relevant professional and adaptation networks 

Join networks and professional institutions to develop connections with 

others working on adaptation. You will benefit from shared learning and 

opportunities to work together, formally or informally.

WT1B  Identify relevant groups, partnerships and forums

Identify existing statutory and non-statutory groups, partnerships and forums 

that include, or could include, adaptation within their remit. Consider their 

relevance to your adaptation work and find out who in your organisation 

already engages with them. 

WT2A  Make connections with external partners 

Speak with external partners about on-going or future projects, shared 

priorities and potential alignment to lay the ground-work for collaboration. 

Engage with relevant groups, forums and partnerships where adaptation is 

appropriate within their remit.

WT2B  Coordinate with partners to deliver initial actions 

Take practical action with partners to develop strong collaborative partnerships 

for the future. Share your adaptation priorities, and seek opportunities for joint 

action on adaptation. Even small projects or coordination of on-going work 

can build momentum. 

WT2C  Develop communication and engagement activities with partners

Highlight and communicate 

shared priorities, climate risks, 

and ongoing adaptation 

actions with partners. Use this 

communication to emphasise 

the importance of your 

collective action, internally and 

externally. 

P
age 53



Scotland Adapts30

MATURITY STAGE: ADVANCED
Your organisation is working with partners on a regular basis to deliver a range of 

shared adaptation actions. Collaboration is supported by formalising partnership 

arrangements and you are actively seeking to involve diverse stakeholders in your 

adaptation planning. You are linking to wider networks to share ideas, experience 

and seek opportunities to collaborate.

MATURITY STAGE: MATURE
Your organisation is working in partnership to undertake a programme of action 

that achieves long-term adaptation outcomes. Partnership arrangements are 

maintained and refreshed so that they remain effective. You are now a leader on 

adaptation and supporting others to progress. 

WT3A  Begin to formalise partnership working 

As you work with partners more frequently and on larger projects, you will 

need to formalise partnership arrangements – agreeing roles, responsibilities 

and funding allocations. This might build upon existing arrangements or you 

might need to establish a new partnership. 

WT3B  Engage a wide range of stakeholders 

Delivering adaptation needs to involve a diverse range of stakeholders 

including communities, businesses and the third sector – look beyond the 

‘usual suspects’. Well-planned and inclusive engagement will allow for 

adjustment of your plans and is an opportunity for you to influence others. 

WT3C  Implement further joint actions

Ongoing collaboration with partners can help you deliver an expanding range 

of adaptation actions and achieve shared outcomes. It is likely that many of your 

adaptation actions cannot be effectively delivered without the involvement of partners. 

WT3D  Join networks and link with peer organisations

Adaptation benefits from sharing experience and learning with others. Your 

organisation and adaptation ‘champions’ can join key networks – in Scotland 

and beyond. Aim to link with peer organisations to share ideas, experience and 

seek opportunities to collaborate.

WT4A  Further develop and maintain partnership working 

Achieving long-term adaptation outcomes will require effective partnership 

working, which needs an on-going effort to maintain and refresh 

arrangements. Also seek opportunities to integrate partnership working 

alongside your organisation’s mainstreaming of adaptation into its functions. 

WT4B  Sustain engagement with partners and stakeholders 

Sustaining engagement with partners and stakeholders requires a significant 

on-going commitment – involving them in planning, implementation, 

and evaluation. This will be critical for acceptance and the success of your 

adaptation plans.

WT4C  Expand a programme of joint actions 

The delivery of a long-term strategic programme of adaptation will require 

coordination and collaboration with partners. This includes agreeing resources 

and co-financing for multi-year investment in adaptation actions.

WT4D  Take a lead in networks and peer organisations 

As an organisation that is now a leader on adaptation, you will have invaluable 

experience to share – and much still to learn. Your adaptation work will be 

strengthened when others are progressing, so take an active role in networks 

and connect with peer organisations.

P
age 54



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 31

CASE STUDY:  
ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

Partnership working to build city-wide climate resilience in Aberdeen: 
Aberdeen City Council is a lead partner on Aberdeen Adapts, bringing 
together communities, businesses and organisations to develop a  
city-wide approach to climate adaptation. 

Aberdeen Adapts was created to drive climate 

change adaptation action forward and build a climate 

resilient city. The widespread and interconnected 

impacts of climate change cannot be effectively 

managed working alone, and this partnership allows 

many different stakeholders to have a say in the 

development of a city-wide framework that will guide 

adaptation action in Aberdeen (WT2A). 

The partnership provides a platform to share 

expertise and data, giving partners the opportunity 

to collaborate to address the risks and opportunities 

of climate change. Partnership working can at times 

be a slow process, but bringing diverse partners 

with different levels of experience on an adaptation 

journey will ensure that Aberdeen builds long term, 

city-wide resilience to climate impacts (WT2B).

As Aberdeen’s city-wide framework is being developed, 

some member organisations are progressing their own 

adaptation action individually and through project 

partnerships (WT3C). The relationships strengthened 

through Aberdeen Adapts are helping to break 

down organisational silos, as traditionally separate 

organisations are partnering to deliver cross-sectoral 

projects to meet the needs of our diverse communities. 

Maintaining momentum is a challenge for any 

project, particularly when the people driving actions 

within organisations already have full workloads. 

Partnership working can help overcome this hurdle 

as organisations can build on Aberdeen Adapts 

successes. An example is the mini arts festival as 

a tool for community engagement. The arts and 

creative spaces can helps organisations to engage 

with diverse stakeholders on climate impact action, 

and Aberdeen Adapts partners are now working 

together to develop more projects to engage with 

Aberdeen’s diverse communities. (WT3B)

Aberdeen Adapts is also helping the Council 

progress adaptation action internally. Guided by the 

strategic direction of the partnership, the Council 

is building climate change adaptation into business 

case templates, and incorporating climate risk into 

the corporate risk register. To support this, the 

Council has produced climate risk guidance, and is 

continuously engaging with staff on climate change, 

including senior management and elected members.

Partnering to deliver a city-wide adaptation 
framework is helping Aberdeen City Council 
ensure that its work programme aligns with 
broader action to support climate resilience, 
allowing them to effect change on a larger 
scale than if acting alone. 

A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 31
P

age 55



Scotland Adapts32

Starter Pack – available online

The Starter Pack is specific guidance to help organisations quickly complete the 

Starting maturity stage of the Adaptation Capability Framework. It is particularly 

helpful for those with limited prior knowledge of adaptation or in organisations 

where adaptation work is just beginning. 

For organisations that have already progressed adaptation, reviewing the Starter 

Pack and recording relevant information into a central resource will help identify 

gaps and ensure that knowledge is retained even if staff change. 

Benchmarking adaptation – available online

The Benchmarking Tool helps you to take stock of your organisation’s progress 

using the Adaptation Capability Framework. It can provide a baseline of the extent 

of existing adaptation work in your organisation, helps you identify gaps in your 

capabilities, and can be a useful tool for reporting progress over time. 

Make a plan for adaptation

Agree an adaptation goal. What does your organisation need to achieve? 

Organisations at an early stage of adapting to climate change should identify a 

simple, short term goal such as ‘Identify climate impacts that are affecting my 

organisation’. Achieving a basic goal such as this will enable you to develop long 

term, more specific goals in the future.

Organisations that have completed more work on adaptation should be able to 

identify more specific, focused adaptation goals that cover a 3 to 5 year period, 

and reflect their priorities and unique circumstances. An adaption goal should be 

specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time bound (SMART).

Select tasks. Use the framework to select tasks that can help you progress towards 

your adaptation goal. Each of the capability tasks in the framework is supported by 

sub-tasks, further resources and case studies which can be accessed through the 

online version of the framework available on the Adaptation Scotland website.  

We recommend that you select a mixture of tasks across the four capabilities. 

Develop a project plan. You will need to secure resources to implement your 

selected tasks. A project plan can manage and track progress – setting out roles, 

responsibilities, milestones, deliverables and timescales needed to deliver the tasks 

that you have agreed.

Share the journey 

You will be far more effective in achieving your adaptation goals if you share 

and learn with others. Join the Adaptation Learning Exchange, a community 

of practitioners who are also working on tasks and have hands on experience 

implementing adaptation. www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/get-involved/ 

our-projects/adaptation-learning-exchange

Using the Adaptation Capability Framework
There is no one-size-fits-all approach to adapting to climate change. The Adaptation Capability Framework will  
enable you to develop an adaptation journey that is right for your organisation. An interactive version of the  
framework, which includes a wide range of supporting resources, is available on the Adaptation Scotland website:  
www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector

P
age 56

http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/get-involved/our-projects/adaptation-learning-exchange
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/get-involved/our-projects/adaptation-learning-exchange
https://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector


A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 33

Monitoring and Evaluation
Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) is critical to the long-term success of adaptation. As we are still at the early stages of 
understanding how best to adapt, it is important that learning is a primary goal of adaptation M&E. We need to learn 
about what works (or doesn’t), and be flexible, making adjustments to our adaptation plans and actions. M&E is a way to 
demonstrate effectiveness and accountability of adaptation actions. The process can also ensure the success of adaptation 
initiatives by supporting you to track the performance of activities, your implementation of risk management and determine 
if outcomes are achieved. 

The Adaptation Capability Framework does not include dedicated tasks on M&E, as 

it is considered intrinsic across all tasks included in the Framework.

Process and outcomes

You will need to ensure that activities are proceeding as planned and fulfil the 

aims that you have set. Process-based M&E approaches should be familiar to any 

organisation. You should generally seek to use your organisation’s M&E procedures, 

although some minor adjustments may be required for adaptation. The Framework 

provides a useful context for considering key stages in a broader adaptation process 

for your organisation – and the benchmarking tool can be used as a component of 

your adaptation M&E. 

You will also need outcome-based M&E to understand whether your actions are 

achieving intended adaptation outcomes. These will become more clearly defined 

as your organisation progresses and you align adaptation with your organisations 

purpose and objectives. This is widely acknowledged as challenging for adaptation; 

the extent to which your actions contribute to an outcome are not always clear; and 

it can be a long time before an outcome is realised. 

Indicators

Measurable indicators play a crucial role in M&E by providing quantifiable evidence 

of progress, performance and impact. Indicators must serve a clear purpose, and 

should be closely aligned with your adaptation process and outcomes. Poorly 

chosen indicators can waste effort, measure the wrong things, and even steer 

decisions in the wrong direction. Therefore it is important to choose ‘good’ 

indicators using appropriate selection criteria to ensure that they are both feasible 

and desirable. Your indicators should be subject to review and adjustment as you 

progress. 

From getting started to maturing M&E

It is important to begin developing an approach to M&E from the outset of your 

adaptation journey. Your initial work will likely focus on setting up M&E for short-

term actions that you are taking, with a focus on process-based measures. You 

should be asking questions such as ‘what does success look like?’ and ‘how will I 

measure progress?’ so that you can clearly demonstrate progress, even at the early 

stages of adaptation. 

P
age 57



Scotland Adapts34

As your work on adaptation progresses, you will need to continue developing your 

approach to M&E. This includes clearly setting out the purpose of evaluation – 

UKCIP’s AdaptME Toolkit1 identifies eight common reasons: evaluate effectiveness, 

assess efficiency, understand equity, provide accountability, assess outcomes, 

improve learning, improve future interventions and compare with other evaluations. 

These are used to design M&E that responds to your organisation’s needs. 

M&E will be important in everything that you do, but is an essential component 

in undertaking some key tasks in the framework – including climate change risk 

assessment, theory of change and adaptation pathways. It also underpins good 

governance. 

Reporting

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 includes Public Bodies Climate Change 

Duties, which require annual reporting of progress. The Adaptation Capability 

Framework – and the Benchmarking Tool – can be used to demonstrate the range 

1 https://www.ukcip.org.uk/wizard/adaptme-toolkit/

of adaptation activities that your organisation is carrying out. Adaptation Scotland 

is working in partnership with the Sustainable Scotland Network to support the 

Public Bodies Duties reporting process, including providing guidance on how the 

Framework can be used to support reporting.

You should also consider your organisation’s contribution to delivering outcomes in 

the Scottish Government’s Second Scottish Climate Change Adaptation Programme 

(due 2019), which are aligned with Scotland’s National Outcomes and the UN 

Sustainable Development Goals. 

Support and advice

The Framework – in particular the interactive online version – signposts to relevant 

guidance and examples of M&E relating to specific tasks. There is an M&E resource 

page on the Adaptation Scotland website linking to international best practice and 

guidance. As Scottish organisations make progress, sharing learning based on M&E 

will be a cornerstone of our collective efforts to adapt. 

P
age 58

https://www.ukcip.org.uk/wizard/adaptme-toolkit/
https://www.ukcip.org.uk/wizard/adaptme-toolkit/


A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 35

Finding Support
The best way to adapt to climate change is to collaborate. By working together it is possible to create the ideas and solutions 
needed for a low carbon, climate ready future. Adaptation Scotland supports collaboration through resources, the Adaptation 
Learning Exchange and an enquiry service.

Resources

A fully interactive version of the Adaptation Capability Framework is available on 

the Adaptation Scotland website www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/

your-sector/public-sector. This includes detailed task descriptions, resources and 

case studies that will help you to implement the Framework. 

Adaptation Learning Exchange

The Adaptation Learning Exchange is run by Adaptation Scotland, and includes 

exchange events, training courses and an online forum.

Membership of the Adaptation Learning Exchange is open to professionals who are 

committed to collaborating with others and progressing adaptation work within 

their organisations and sectors. 

To find out more and join the Adaptation Learning Exchange visit:  

www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/get-involved/our-projects/adaptation-learning-exchange 

Enquiries

Adaptation Scotland is here to help. You can get in touch at any time with specific 

questions or for a general discussion about options for developing adaptation work 

within your organisation.

Contact us:

 adaptationscotland@sniffer.org.uk

 www.adaptationscotland.org.uk 

P
age 59

https://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/how-adapt/your-sector/public-sector
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk/get-involved/our-projects/adaptation-learning-exchange
mailto:adaptationscotland@sniffer.org.uk
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk


Scotland Adapts36
P

age 60



A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector 37
P

age 61



Scotland Adapts38

 adaptationscotland@sniffer.org.uk

 www.adaptationscotland.org.uk

 @AdaptationScot

Scotland Adapts: A Capability Framework for a Climate Ready Public Sector is endorsed by:

This document is printed on 100 per cent recycled paper using non-toxic inks. If you no longer 
need this publication please pass it on, recycle it or return it to Adaptation Scotland. 

P
age 62

mailto:adaptationscotland@sniffer.org.uk
http://www.adaptationscotland.org.uk


APPENDIX C – SCOTTISH NATURAL HERITAGE (SNH) 
Overview of Challenges & Opportunities relating to climate change
Part of Convention of the Highlands & Islands Paper -28th October 2019

Sector Overview of challenges and opportunities

Power Challenges: Grid connection for new renewable generation.

Opportunities: Support development of the whole renewables industry: onshore 
and off shore wind, wave and tidal energy, solar, hydro, biomass including potential 
for circular economy such as fish farm waste to create biofuel 

The Highlands & Islands could be a major contributor of carbon capture and 
storage 

Transport Challenges: More frequent extreme weather events (such as heatwaves and floods 
etc) are likely to cause disruption across the transport network. Nature based 
solutions will complement traditional engineering measures to maintain 
connectivity.  

Vehicles, ferries, shipping and aviation - phasing out of internal combustion engine 
vehicles and increasing electric vehicles (EV). Rapid development and placement 
of infrastructure such as EV charging points.

Funding applications for active travel through Sustrans need rural proofing, with 
requirement for 50% match funding on active travel projects difficult to secure 
outside urban areas.

Opportunities: Trialling of low and zero emission flights in the Highlands and 
Islands by 2021.

Significant potential around e-bikes for commuting (will need the right 
infrastructure). We are still a long way behind continental Europe (Denmark, 
Holland on infrastructure and ambition.)

Encourage investment in active travel infrastructure such as paths and off-road 
routes near to where people live and work

Promotion of sustainable ‘slow’ tourism - in respect of transport, it is also about 
encouraging visitors to make longer stays, use public transport to and within 
destinations, promoting hire or electric cars and ebikes and stimulating more visitor 
experiences based around walking and cycling.  

Heating, 
housing and 
development

Challenges: Decarbonising Scottish heating will be particularly challenging and will 
need transformation of current heating supply.  Specific challenges for H&I relate 
to off-gas grid.  In addition, fuel poverty will need to be considered

The increasing effects of climate change, including the consequences of more 
intense rainfall events will put existing and planned built development and 
infrastructure at risk. 

Similar risks are compounded within our coastal fringe with increased coastal 
flooding and erosion enhanced flooding due to sea level rise. 

Inverness will likely see a sea level rise of up to nearly 1 metre between now and 
2100, with substantial increases in the likelihood of coastal flooding in low-lying 
areas.

Rental housing for short-term lets does not require implementation of new 

Page 63

https://www.utrecht.nl/city-of-utrecht/mobility/cycling/bicycle-parking/bicycle-parking-stationsplein/bicycle-parking-stationsplein-utrecht-largest-in-the-world/


environmental standards.

Opportunities: Reduction in fuel poverty levels and therefore potentially child 
poverty levels.

For the region to become a ‘demonstrator’ of new and innovative technologies and 
systems (for example the Hydrogen 100 project)

Natural defences such as beaches, dunes and saltmarshes can be cost effective 
way of protecting buildings and infrastructure1. New and existing developments can 
use nature based solutions to improve resilience.

Industry Challenges: Electrification of industry will be a significant component of reducing 
emissions, however wider challenges remain in supporting Scotland’s oil and gas 
sector in the energy transition.

Opportunities: Use of skills and expertise from oil and gas sector to support highly 
productive transition.  ‘Greening’ of offshore oil and gas installations by 
incorporating renewable technology, e.g. floating offshore wind

Land Use Challenges: Land use is already being affected by climate change and increasingly 
with ‘hotter dryer summers, warmer wetter winters and more flooding’. 

Uncertainty over shape and size of future rural funding support.  Funding has 
traditionally come through government, and there is a need to look at bringing in 
carbon funding from private business on top of government funding.  

Opportunities: How land is used has an essential role to play in the transition to a 
net zero carbon economy as well as building resilience to a changing climate.  
Promoting nature-based solutions for example through peatland restoration, 
woodland expansion and managing flood risk.

Increasing resilience of coastal and river habitats to manage erosion and coastal 
flood risk will be important for many vulnerable Highland & Island coastal zones. 

Marine The region has strong potential to develop the blue carbon sector with marine and 
coastal habitats that are natural stores for carbon. Many habitats and species 
important for blue carbon are protected under the National Marine Plan and many 
are also safeguarded within Scotland’s Marine Protected Area Network. There is 
some tension however between some marine developments and activities and the 
protection of environmental assets to meet other objectives, including for 
biodiversity. 

1 Dynamic Coast - £13bn worth of infrastructure protected through natural defences

Page 64

https://www.sgn.co.uk/about-us/more-than-pipes/future-of-gas/hydrogen/hydrogen-100
https://www.nature.scot/sites/default/files/2019-05/Planning%20ahead%20for%20coastal%20change%20guidance.pdf


1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Purpose

1.1      The purpose of this report is to inform the Climate Change and 
Environmental Action Short Life Working Group (thereafter referred to as 
SLWG) of current Scottish Government Consultation titled ‘The role of 
public sector bodies in tackling climate change’. 

1.2      The closing date for submissions for this consultation is 4th December 
2019.  The Council’s Climate Change Board will be discussing and 
finalising the consultation response at the next planned meeting of the 
Board on 11th November.

1.3      Any Members of the SLWG who wish to contribute or submit feedback to 
this consultation via the Climate Change Board are encouraged to do so.  

Recommendation

That the SLWG:-

1.3.1 Note and consider this live Scottish Government consultation;

1.3.2 Agree that the Climate Change Board will submit a response on behalf of 
the Council before the 4th December deadline;

1.3.3 Are encouraged to feedback any comments relating to the consultation to 
the Climate Change Board before their meeting on 11th November so 
they can be considered; and

1.3.4 That the finalised consultation response will be presented to the SLWG at 
future meeting.  

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL CLIMATE CHANGE  ENVIRONMENTAL 
ACTION GROUP                                                    
                                                                                                                                                        

COMMERCIAL SERVICES                              7th NOVEMBER 2019

CONSULTATION ON THE ROLE OF PUBLIC SECTOR BODIES IN TACKLING 
CLIMATE CHANGE

Page 65 Agenda Item 5



2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Climate Change and 
Environmental Action Short Life Working Group (thereafter referred to as 
SLWG) of current Scottish Government Consultation titled ‘The role of 
public sector bodies in tackling climate change’. 

 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

That the SLWG:-

3.1.1 Note and consider this live Scottish Government consultation;

3.1.2   Agree that the Climate Change Board will submit a response on behalf of 
the Council before the 4th December deadline;

3.1.3   Are encouraged to feedback any comments relating to the consultation to 
the Climate Change Board before their meeting on 11th November so 
they can be considered; and

3.1.4 That the finalised consultation response will be presented to the SLWG at 
future meeting.  

  
4.0 DETAIL

4.1     In 2009, The Climate Change (Scotland) Act was passed which set a target 
to reduce Scotland’s greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% by 2050 
from a 1990 baseline. The target was based on evidence that global 
greenhouse gas emissions reductions of between 50% and 85% by 2050 
would be required to minimise the chances of a global temperature rise in 
excess of 2°C. 

4.2     In December 2015, the United Nations Climate Change Conference was 
held in Paris.  At the conference, a global agreement was made to limit the 
global temperature rise to 2°C by the end of the century and pursue efforts 
to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5°C.  This was termed 
the UN Paris Agreement and came into force on 4 November 2016. 

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENTAL 
ACTION GROUP                                                    
                                                                                                                                                        

COMMERCIAL SERVICES                              7th NOVEMBER 2019

CONSULTATION ON THE ROLE OF PUBLIC SECTOR BODIES IN TACKLING 
CLIMATE CHANGE 

Page 66



4.3    In May 2019, the UK Committee on Climate Change published its report 
entitled ‘Net Zero – The UK’s contribution to stopping global warming’.  The 
report was a response to a request from the Governments of the UK, 
Wales and Scotland to reassess the UK’s long-term emissions targets.  
One of the report’s recommendations was that Scotland achieves net-zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2045.  The Scottish Government has agreed 
with this recommendation and, along with a number of other Public Sector 
Bodies, has declared a ‘climate emergency’.  On 26 September 2019, the 
Scottish Parliament passed the Climate Change (Emissions Reductions 
Targets) (Scotland) Bill accepting the new 2045 net zero target.    

4.4    The Scottish Government considers the public sector to have a key role to 
play in tackling climate change.  The Scottish Government is, therefore, 
consulting on the role that Public Sector Bodies can play in tackling climate 
change.  Part 4 of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009, entitled ‘Public 
Bodies Duties’ places a duty on Public Sector Bodies to take action with 
respect to climate change mitigation and adaptation.  In 2015, the Scottish 
Government implemented the part of the Act that requires Public Sector 
Bodies to report annually on their emissions and action taken to tackle 
climate change.  

4.5  The consultation document can be viewed on the Scottish Government 
web site as follows:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/role-public-sector-bodies-tackling-
climate-change-consultation/

4.6  The Consultation makes two significant proposals to drive action.

4.7 Firstly, the Scottish Government is proposing a change to the public sector 
reporting duty on climate change action, which all Councils, along with a 
wide range of other public sector bodies, are required to undertake.  The 
consultation proposes that all public sector bodies:

• set a date by which they will reach zero emissions;
• report on how spending plans align with emissions reduction targets;
• make their annual reports publicly accessible.

4.8 Secondly, the consultation proposes the establishment of two newly 
created structures for climate change action at the national level:

a) ‘National Forum on Climate Change’ would bring together government, the 
public sector, private sector, academia, NGOs and the wider public, with 
the intended purpose to open up climate action to deliberative democracy 
and public participation;

b) a ‘High Ambition Climate Network’ for the public sector would meet twice a 
year, chaired by the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change 

Page 67

https://www.gov.scot/publications/role-public-sector-bodies-tackling-climate-change-consultation/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/role-public-sector-bodies-tackling-climate-change-consultation/


and Land Reform, and supported by a Senior Officials Group from across 
the bodies involved.  It would be focussed on making strategic connections 
at the highest levels across the most ambitious public bodies.  

4.9 The key consultation questions are considered to be:-

Q1. What additional training, information or guidance do you think Public 
Sector Bodies need to help them increase their action on climate change?

Q2. What are your views on the proposed structure for the High Ambition 
Climate Network of Chief Executives and Elected Members?

Q3. Do you agree that Public Sector Bodies should be required to set targets 
for when they will achieve zero direct emissions, and for reduced indirect 
emissions?
Yes / no / don’t know Please explain your answer. 

Q4. Do you agree that Public Sector Bodies should report annually on how 
they use their resources to contribute to reducing emissions?
Yes / no / don’t know Please explain your answer. 

Q5. Do you agree that the details of what Public Sector Bodies are required 
to report on should be set out in statutory guidance instead of on the face of 
secondary legislation (otherwise known as an Order)?
Yes / no / don’t know Please explain your answer.

Q6. Do you agree to the proposed changes to the list of Public Sector 
Bodies that are required to annually report their emissions?
Yes / no / don’t know If you answered no, please specify which aspect of the 
proposal you disagree with and why.

Q7. Do you agree with our proposals for amending the reporting 
requirements as set out above?
Yes / no / don’t know If you answered no, please specify which aspect of the 
proposal you disagree with.

Q8. Is there anything else you think should be added to the reporting duties, 
or anything else you think should be removed?

Q9. Do you agree that Public Sector Bodies should each make their own 
report on emissions reductions publicly available?
Yes / no / don’t know Please explain your answer.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy: None at present as consultation

         6.2 Financial: None at present as consultation 

6.3 Legal: None at present as consultation

Page 68



6.4 HR: None at present as consultation

6.5 Fairer Scotland Duty: None at present as consultation

6.6 Equalities – 
protected Characteristics: None at present as consultation

6.7 Socio-economic Duty: None at present as consultation

6.8 Islands: None at present as consultation

6.9 Risk: None at present as consultation

6.10 Customer Service: None at present as consultation

Douglas Hendry, Executive Director with responsibility for Commercial Services
29th October 2019
                                 
For further information contact: 
Ross McLaughlin, Head of Commercial Services

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Governance Arrangements
	4 Plan and Focus of Activity
	PLan and Focus Appendix A
	Environment and Economy Board Item 07
	Current Position

	Plan and Focus Appendix B
	Plan and Focus Appendix C

	5 Consultation on the role of Public Sector Bodies in tackling Climate Change



